STATE OF CONNECTICUT



AUDITORS' REPORT UNIVERSITY OF CONNECTICUT FISCAL YEARS ENDED JUNE 30, 2016, 2017 AND 2018

AUDITORS OF PUBLIC ACCOUNTS

JOHN C. GERAGOSIAN

Table of Contents

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY	i
AUDITORS' REPORT	1
COMMENTS	2
FOREWORD	2
Autonomy	4
UConn 2000	
UConn 2000 Authorizations	6
Significant Legislation:	6
Enrollment Statistics	7
RÉSUMÉ OF OPERATIONS	8
Operating Revenues	9
Operating Expenses	9
Non-operating Revenues and Expenses	11
Other Changes in Net Position	
Net Position	13
Related Entities	13
STATE AUDITORS' FINDINGS AND RECOMMENDATIONS	15
Public Solicitation for Projects Exceeding \$500,000	15
Professional Services Competitive Selection	
Hartford Relocation Project	18
Sabbatical Leave Program	20
Excessive Compensation	22
Compensatory Time	23
Separation Payments	
Excess Payment for Unused Vacation Accrual	28
Core-CT Access	29
Timesheets	30
Rehire of Retired State Employees	31
Holiday Time	32
Vacation Accrual	33
Data Center	34
Financial System Access Controls	36
University Housing Policy	37
Service Organization Control Reports	
Credit Cards	
Ethics Certifications	42
Employee Tuition Waivers	42
Construction Expenditure Authorization	43
On-Call Professional Services Program	45
Conflict of Interest.	46
Construction Program Management Oversight Services	48
Conflict of Interest Disclosure	50
Software Inventory	
Construction Management Oversight Committee	52

Auditors of Public Accounts

Food Service Employees	54
RECOMMENDATIONS	
Status of Prior Audit Recommendations:	56
Current Audit Recommendations:	
ACKNOWLEDGMENTS	65

April 13, 2021 EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

In accordance with the provisions of Section 2-90 of the Connecticut General Statutes, we have audited certain operations of the University of Connecticut (UConn) for the fiscal years ended June 30, 2016, 2017 and 2018. Our audit identified internal control deficiencies; instances of noncompliance with laws, regulations, and policies; and the need for improvement in practices and procedures that warrant attention of management.

The significant findings and recommendations are presented below:

Page 15	During our review of 6 construction contracts totaling \$291,408,084, we found that UConn did not competitively solicit 2 projects, totaling \$26,619,653 and \$16,544,703. UConn should comply with Section 10a-109n(c)(2)(A) of the General Statutes and publicly solicit projects with costs estimated to exceed \$500,000, by posting them on the university's website and the Department of Administrative Services' State Contracting Portal. (Recommendation 1.)
Page 16	During our review of construction change orders, we noted that UConn did not competitively solicit 2 professional design projects costing \$4,277,256. UConn should adhere to its policies and publicly solicit design projects with costs greater than \$500,000. (Recommendation 2.)
Page 18	Our audit disclosed that the costs of UConn's downtown Hartford campus project far exceeded the original budget by almost \$30 million. UConn should establish the scope and costs of construction projects to ensure that their actual costs are reasonable and consistent with the properly developed initial budget. (Recommendation 3.)
Page 20	One university employee received sabbatical leave compensation at full pay for an entire year. We also noted several instances in which the university did not recover funds for sabbatical leave payments made to employees who did not return to full-time service. UConn should adhere to its bylaws when administering the sabbatical leave program, document any deviation from its formal policy in writing, and vet sabbatical leave via an appropriate approval process. (Recommendation 4.)
Page 22	We reviewed 18 employees who stepped down from management positions during the audited period. Each employee moved from a 12-month management position to a 9, 10, or 11-month faculty position. Of the 18 employees, we found 7 instances in which the university increased the employees' monthly compensation rate after they changed positions. UConn should compensate employees who step down from management positions at a level consistent with their new position. If a higher compensation rate is warranted, the university should document the appropriateness of the new salary. (Recommendation 5.)
Page 23	We noted several instances in which supervisors did not properly approve compensatory time. The university paid compensatory time to employees who did not request to use their time or were ineligible to receive such a payment. One employee received 1 to 2 hours of compensatory time per day throughout the audited period. UConn should strengthen control procedures to ensure compliance with the compensatory time provisions set forth in the University of Connecticut Professional Employees Association contract. (Recommendation 6.)

STATE OF CONNECTICUT



JOHN C. GERAGOSIAN

State Capitol
210 Capitol Avenue
Hartford, Connecticut 06106-1559

ROBERT J. KANE

April 13, 2021

AUDITORS' REPORT UNIVERSITY OF CONNECTICUT FISCAL YEARS ENDED JUNE 30, 2016, 2017 AND 2018

We have audited certain operations of the University of Connecticut (UConn) in fulfillment of our duties under Section 2-90 of the Connecticut General Statutes. The scope of our audit included, but was not necessarily limited to, the years ended June 30, 2016, 2017 and 2018. The objectives of our audit were to:

- 1. Evaluate the university's internal controls over significant management and financial functions:
- 2. Evaluate the university's compliance with policies and procedures internal to the department or promulgated by other state agencies, as well as certain legal provisions; and
- 3. Evaluate the effectiveness, economy, and efficiency of certain management practices and operations, including certain financial transactions.

Our methodology included reviewing written policies and procedures, financial records, minutes of meetings, and other pertinent documents; interviewing various personnel of UConn, as well as certain external parties; and testing selected transactions. We obtained an understanding of internal controls that we deemed significant within the context of the audit objectives and assessed whether such controls have been properly designed and placed in operation. We tested certain of those controls to obtain evidence regarding the effectiveness of their design and operation. We also obtained an understanding of legal provisions that are significant within the context of the audit objectives, and we assessed the risk that illegal acts, including fraud, and violations of contracts, grant agreements, or other legal provisions could occur. Based on that risk assessment, we designed and performed procedures to provide reasonable assurance of detecting instances of noncompliance significant to those provisions.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards applicable to performance audits contained in Government Auditing Standards, issued by the Comptroller General of the United States. Those standards require that we plan and perform our audit to obtain sufficient, appropriate

evidence to provide a reasonable basis for our findings and conclusions based on our audit objectives. We believe that the evidence obtained provides such a basis.

The accompanying Résumé of Operations is presented for informational purposes. This information was obtained from various available sources, including but not limited to, the department's management and the state's information systems, and was not subjected to the procedures applied in our audit of the department. For the areas audited, we identified:

- 1. Deficiencies in internal controls;
- 2. Apparent noncompliance with policies and procedures or legal provisions; and
- 3. Need for improvement in management practices and procedures that we deemed to be reportable.

The State Auditors' Findings and Recommendations in the accompanying report presents any findings arising from our audit of the University of Connecticut.

COMMENTS

FOREWORD

The University of Connecticut, a constituent unit of the state system of higher education, operates generally under the provisions of Title 10a, Chapter 185b, Part III, of the General Statutes. UConn is governed by the Board of Trustees of the University of Connecticut, consisting of 21 members appointed or elected under the provisions of Section 10a-103 of the General Statutes. The board makes rules for the government of the university and determines the general policies of the university pursuant to duties set forth in Section 10a-104 of the General Statutes. The members of the board as of June 30, 2018 were:

Ex officio members:

Dannel P. Malloy, Governor
Steven K. Reviczky, Commissioner of Agriculture
Catherine H. Smith, Commissioner of Economic and Community Development
Dianna R. Wentzell, Commissioner of Education
Sanford Cloud, Jr., Chairperson of UConn Health's Board of Directors

Appointed by the Governor:

Thomas E. Kruger, Cos Cob, Chairman Andrea Dennis-LaVigne, Simsbury, Secretary Andy F. Bessette, West Hartford Mark L. Boxer, Glastonbury Charles F. Bunnell, Waterford Shari G. Cantor, West Hartford Marilda L. Gandara, Hartford Rebecca Lobo, Granby Denis J. Nayden, Stamford Kevin J. O'Connor, Greenwich Thomas D. Ritter, Hartford Philip E. Rubin, Fairfield

Elected by alumni:

Richard T. Carbray, Jr., Rocky Hill Jeanine A. Gouin, Durham

Elected by students:

Kevin A. Braghirol, West Hartford Christine C. Savino, Easton

Other members who served during the audited period include the following:

Lawrence D. McHugh, Middletown, Chairman in 2017 Louise M. Bailey, West Hartford Donny E. Marshall, Coventry Jeremy L. Jelliffe, Willimantic David Rifkin, Storrs Adam J. Kuegler, Watertown

Pursuant to Section 10a-108 of the General Statutes, the board of trustees appoints a university president to be the chief executive and administrative officer of the university and the board. Susan Herbst served as the president of the university during the audited period.

UConn's main campus is located in Storrs, Connecticut. The university maintains additional facilities and carries out programs at locations across the state. These facilities and programs include:

Avery Point:

Undergraduate and Graduate Programs
Connecticut Sea Grant College Program
National Underwater Research, Technology & Education Center (Officially closed on December 21, 2017)

Farmington:

UConn Health

Greater Hartford:

Undergraduate and Graduate Programs UConn School of Law School of Social Work (Hartford) Graduate Business Learning Center

Stamford:

Undergraduate and Graduate Programs Connecticut Information Technology Institute

Torrington:

Undergraduate and Graduate Programs (Closed at the end of spring 2016 semester)

Waterbury:

Undergraduate and Graduate Programs

Operations of the UConn Health Center are examined and reported upon separately by the Auditors of Public Accounts.

Autonomy

Statutes governing the state's constituent institutions of higher education provide UConn notable autonomy and flexibility. This independence is most notable with respect to procurement. Institutions of higher education may, under Section 10a-151b of the General Statutes, purchase equipment, supplies and contractual services, execute personal services agreements or lease personal property without the approval of the Comptroller, the Secretary of the Office of Policy and Management, or the Commissioner of the Department of Administrative Services. Personal services agreements are not subject to the restrictions codified under Sections 4-212 through 4-219 of the General Statutes. As a compensating measure, personal services agreements executed by institutions of higher education must satisfy the same requirements generally applicable to other procurement actions.

Under Section 3-25 of the General Statutes, higher education institutions may, subject to the approval of the Comptroller, pay most non-payroll expenditures (those funded from the proceeds of state bond issues being an exception) directly instead of through the Comptroller. UConn issues checks that are drawn on a zero-balance checking account controlled by the State Treasurer. Under the approved procedures, funds are advanced from the university's operating fund (a civil list fund) to a Treasurer's cash management account. These advances are recorded as higher education operating expenses on the Comptroller's records. The Treasurer transfers funds from the cash management account to UConn's zero-balance direct disbursement checking account as needed to satisfy checks that have cleared.

UConn makes all payments, except for certain transactions involving student receipts, through the zero-balance checking account. UConn's operating fund is reimbursed on a daily basis for payments made on behalf of UConn's non-civil list funds (UConn 2000 bond proceeds and UConn's special local fund). The University of Connecticut Research Foundation Fund reimburses the operating fund on a monthly basis. The reimbursements are posted to the operating fund by crediting higher education operating expenses.

Although Section 3-25 clearly states that "payments for payroll...shall be made solely by the Treasurer...," UConn pays the majority of its food service employees directly. This arrangement is discussed in more detail in the State Auditors' Findings and Recommendations section of this report.

UConn also enjoys a significant degree of autonomy with respect to personnel matters. Section 10a-108 of the General Statutes grants the board of trustees the authority to employ the faculty and other personnel needed to operate and maintain the institutions under its jurisdiction and establish the terms and conditions of employment. Section 10a-154b allows institutions of higher education to establish positions and approve the filling of vacancies within available funds.

UConn 2000

Public Act 95-230, known as The University of Connecticut 2000 Act, authorized a massive infrastructure improvement program to be managed by UConn. Subsection (c) of Section 7 of the act, codified as Section 10a-109g (c) of the General Statutes, provided that the securities issued to fund this program are to be issued as general obligations of UConn. However, the act committed the state to fund the debt service on these securities, both principle and interest, almost entirely from General Fund resources. Per subsection (c) of Section 5 of the act, codified as Section 10a-109e (c) of the General Statutes, "As part of the contract of the state with the holders of the securities secured by the state debt service commitment and pursuant to section 21 of this act, appropriation of all amounts of the state debt service commitment is hereby made out of the resources of the general fund and the treasurer shall pay such amount in each fiscal year, to the paying agent on the securities secured by the state debt service commitment or otherwise as the treasurer shall provide."

These securities, to the extent that related debt service are funded from the state debt service commitment, are considered for the bond limitation established by Section 3-21 of the General Statutes. However, they are not considered to be a state bond issue as referred to in Section 3-25 of the General Statutes. Therefore, UConn can make payments related to the program directly, rather than through the Comptroller.

Subdivision (1) of subsection (b) of Section 9 of Public Act 95-230 established a permanent endowment fund, the net earnings on the principal of which are to be dedicated and made available for endowed professorships, scholarships, and programmatic enhancements. To encourage donations, the act provided for state matching funds for eligible donations deposited into the fund, subject to specific caps. Effective July 1, 1998, Section 28 of Public Act 98-252 explicitly authorized the deposit of state matching funds in a foundation operating pursuant to Sections 4-37e and 4-37f to clarify that state matching funds could become foundation assets.

The enabling legislation for this program was subsequently amended, extending it through the fiscal year ending June 30, 2014 and modifying the matching percentage. However, Public Act 05-3, codified as Section 10a-8c of the General Statutes, effectively ended the program by providing that the matching funds are not to be disbursed unless the state's budget reserve (rainy day fund) equals ten percent of the net General Fund appropriation for the fiscal year in progress.

UConn 2000 Authorizations

As of June 30, 2018, the General Assembly authorized \$4,619,300,000 in projects under the UConn 2000 enabling legislation. The estimated costs do not represent spending caps at the project level or in the aggregate.

Authorizing	Cumulative	Cumulative Funding				
Legislation	Estimated Costs	UConn Bonds	Other			
PA 95-230	\$1,250,000,000	\$962,000,000	\$18,000,000	\$270,000,000		
PA 02-3	2,598,400,000	2,262,000,000	18,000,000	318,400,000		
PA 10-104	2,805,400,000	2,469,000,000	18,000,000	318,400,000		
PA 11-75	3,068,300,000	2,731,900,000	18,000,000	318,400,000		
PA 13-233	4,619,300,000	4,282,900,000	18,000,000	318,400,000		

[a] Under Section 5 (b) of Public Act 95-230, the funding for UConn 2000 included \$18,000,000 in state general obligation bonds authorized under Section 1 of Public Act 95-270 and \$962,000,000 in UConn bonds authorized under Section 4 (a) of Public Act 95-230.

The legislature authorized additional funding through the issuance of state general obligation bonds. These bonds are obligations of the state and are not included as debt in the UConn financial statements. Several projects were funded in this manner. The most significant was the approval of up to \$169,500,000 for the development of a technology park at the university, under Section 92 of Public Act 11-57, as amended by Section 30 of Public Act 14-98.

Public Act 17-2 extended the UConn 2000 program by three years, from 2024 to 2027. It also deferred \$185.8 million in bonds currently authorized under the program for fiscal years 2018 to 2023 to fiscal years 2024 to 20271 and adjusts the program's annual bond caps.

Significant Legislation:

The following notable legislative changes affecting the university took effect during or around the audited period:

- **Public Act 16-93,** effective July 1, 2017, required that the contract between UConn and the UConn Foundation include two additional provisions. The first provision governs the cash compensation UConn pays to its foundation. In essence, it phases out university support of the foundation as endowment levels increase. The second provision requires the foundation to use reasonable efforts to increase gifts and commitments each fiscal year for student support.
- Public Act 17-63, effective July 1, 2017, Section 7 authorized the UConn Foundation to invest state funds to benefit endowed chairs at UConn, which the Office of Higher Education deposits into its Endowed Chair Investment Fund. Under prior law, the State Treasurer invested these

funds. The Endowed Chair Investment Fund contains \$500,000 to \$1 million in state funds for each matching contribution privately raised by UConn for an endowed chair.

- Public Act 17-130, effective July 1, 2017, limited the applicability of certain state contracting requirements for UConn. Generally, it allows UConn to enter into certain goods and services contracts without (1) obtaining specified certifications from bidders and contractors or (2) complying with competitive bidding or negotiation requirements. In the latter case, UConn was required to first adopt policies for entering into or amending the goods and services contracts covered by the act.
- **Public Act 17-230**, effective October 1, 2017, Section 1 eliminated the requirement that UConn and the Department of Transportation (DOT) notify prospective bidders and consultants on various construction projects by advertising in state or local newspapers. Instead, it requires DOT and UConn to notify prospective contractors and consultants through the Department of Administrative Services' state contracting portal.
- Public Act 17-2 of the June Special Session, effective October 31, 2017, Section 31 transferred \$1 million from the tobacco health and trust fund to UConn to support the Connecticut Institute for Clinical and Translational Science in fiscal years 2018 and 2019.
- Public Act 17-2, of the June Special Session, effective October 31, 2017, Sections 442 and 443 extended the UConn 2000 program from 2024 to 2027. It also deferred \$185.8 million in bonds currently authorized under the program for fiscal years 2018 to 2023 to fiscal years 2024 to 2027 and adjusted the annual bond caps for the program.
- **Public Act 18-137**, effective October 1, 2018, Section 8 limited state agencies from paying a departing employee more than \$50,000 as part of a non-disparagement agreement or to avoid litigation costs. The act allows such a payment if (1) it is made under a settlement agreement the Attorney General enters into on the agency's behalf or (2) the Governor, upon the Attorney General's recommendation, authorized it to settle a disputed claim by or against the state.

Enrollment Statistics

Statistics compiled by the University of Connecticut's Office of Institutional Research and Effectiveness present the following enrollment totals during the audited period and prior fiscal year.

Student Status	<u>Fall 2014</u>	Fall 2015	Fall 2016	Fall 2017
Undergraduates	22,973	23,407	23,630	23,845
Graduates	6,830	6,945	7,139	7,098
Professional (School of Law				
and Doctor of Pharmacy)	761	708	671	647
Medical Students	384	396	408	411
Dental - Students	171	168	179	181
Total enrollment	31,119	31,624	32,207	32,182

RÉSUMÉ OF OPERATIONS

Under the provisions of Section 10a-105 (a) of the General Statutes, fees for tuition are fixed by the board of trustees. The following summary presents annual tuition charges during the audited period and prior fiscal year.

	2014-2015			2015-2016		
Student Status	In-State	Out-of- State Regional		In-State	Out-of- State	Regional
Undergraduates	\$9,858	\$30,038	\$17,250	\$10,524	\$32,066	\$18,416
Graduates	\$12,202	\$31,674	\$21,354	\$13,026	\$33,812	\$22,796
School of Law	\$25,366	\$53,392	\$44,390	\$27,078	\$56,996	\$47,386

	2016-2017			2017-2018		
Student Status	In-State	Out-of- State Regional		In-State	Out-of- State	Regional
Undergraduates	\$11,224	\$33,016	\$19,366	\$11,998	\$34,066	\$20,416
Graduates	\$13,726	\$34,762	\$23,746	\$14,500	\$35,812	\$24,796
School of Law	\$27,778	\$57,946	\$48,336	\$28,554	\$58,996	\$49,386

During the audited period, the State Comptroller accounted for UConn operations in:

- General Fund appropriation accounts
- The University of Connecticut Operating Fund
- The University of Connecticut Research Foundation Fund
- Accounts established in other funds for appropriations financed primarily with bond proceeds

UConn maintains additional accounts that are not reflected in the state's civil list financial system. The most significant relate to the UConn 2000 infrastructure improvement program. They are used to account for the proceeds of UConn 2000 bonds and related expenditures.

UConn also maintains a special local fund that is used to account for various locally administered balances and activities. Governor William A. O'Neill authorized the fund under Section 4-31a of the General Statutes in 1987 to encompass existing local funds that had traditionally been controlled by UConn.

UConn's financial statements are prepared in accordance with all relevant Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) pronouncements. UConn utilizes the proprietary fund method of accounting, whereby revenue and expenses are recognized on the accrual basis.

UConn's financial statements are adjusted as necessary and incorporated into the state's Comprehensive Annual Financial Report. The financial balances and activity of the university are combined with those of UConn Health, including the John Dempsey Hospital, and included as a proprietary fund.

UConn employment grew slightly during the audited period. UConn reported 4,801, 4,830, 4,857, and 4,969 full and part-time faculty and staff (excluding adjunct faculty and other special

payroll employees, graduate assistants, dining services employees and student labor) as of the 2015, 2016, 2017, and 2018 fall semesters, respectively.

Operating Revenues

Operating revenues consist of student tuition and fees, grants and contracts (federal, state and local, and nongovernmental), auxiliary enterprises revenue, and other sources of revenue that generally have the characteristics of exchange transactions.

Operating revenues, as presented in UConn's audited financial statements for the audited period and previous fiscal year, are as follows:

(\$ in thousands)	<u>2014-2015</u>	2015-2016	<u>2016-2017</u>	2017-2018
Student Tuition and Fees (Net)	\$ 308,174	\$ 341,809	\$ 367,351	\$ 386,921
Grants and Contracts	170,849	184,383	180,133	144,388
Auxiliary Revenue	201,066	210,455	209,851	210,990
Other Sources	33,291	34,726	32,234	37,717
Total Operating Revenues	\$ 713,380	\$ 771,373	\$ 789,569	\$ 780,016

Operating revenues totaled \$771.4 million, \$789.6 million, and \$780.0 million during the fiscal years ended June 30, 2016, 2017, and 2018, respectively, compared to \$713.4 million during the fiscal year ended June 30, 2015. These revenues increased \$58.0 million (8%) and \$18.2 million (2%) in fiscal years 2016 and 2017, respectively, and decreased \$9.6 million (1%) in fiscal year 2018.

The growth in operating revenues during the fiscal year ended June 30, 2016 was primarily due to increases in student tuition, room and board fees, and undergraduate enrollment. Total grants and contracts also increased in fiscal year 2016, primarily due to additional revenues from various federal and state agencies, offset by a decrease in nongovernmental grant revenue from private foundations as compared to the prior year.

The growth in operating revenues during the fiscal year ended June 30, 2017 was due primarily to increases in student tuition, mandatory fees, and undergraduate enrollment. This was offset by a decrease in grant and contract revenue, mainly attributable to decreases in state and local educational program grants and a decrease in federal grant revenue.

The decrease in operating revenues during the fiscal year ended June 30, 2018 was due primarily to the reclassification of federal and state financial aid from operating to non-operating revenues (expenses). This was offset by increases in tuition, mandatory fees, and undergraduate enrollment. Other sources of operating revenues also increased, primarily due to additional revenue from service centers, renewable energy credits, pre-college summer program fees, payment plan fees, and rental income from various university-owned properties.

Operating Expenses

Operating expenses result from payments made for services to achieve the university's mission of instruction, research, and public service. Operating expenses include employee compensation

and benefits, supplies and other expenses, utilities, depreciation and amortization, and scholarships/fellowships.

Operating expenses, as presented in UConn's audited financial statements for the audited period and previous fiscal year, are as follows:

(\$ in thousands)	<u>2014-2015</u>	<u>2015-2016</u>	2016-2017	2017-2018
Salaries and Wages	\$ 542,082	\$ 557,496	\$ 556,411	\$ 569,359
Fringe Benefits	271,164	287,555	349,328	338,545
Supplies and Other Expenses	228,126	261,732	245,357	264,456
Utilities	23,212	19,737	19,039	19,655
Depreciation and Amortization	95,990	98,767	104,807	108,185
Scholarships and Fellowships	-	-	11,791	8,870
Total Operating Expenses	\$1,160,574	\$1,225,287	\$1,286,733	\$1,309,070

Operating expenses totaled \$1,225.3 million, 1,286.7 million, and 1,309.1 million during the fiscal years ended June 30, 2016, 2017, and 2018, respectively, compared to \$1,160.6 million during the fiscal year ended June 30, 2015. These expenses increased \$64.7 million (6%), \$61.4 million (5%), and \$22.3 million (2%) respectively, in fiscal years 2016, 2017, and 2018.

The growth in operating expenses during the fiscal year ended June 30, 2016 was due, in large part, to increased university operating expenses, including instruction and academic support, research, institutional support, and plant operations and maintenance. Personal services and fringe benefit expenses also grew due to compensation increases for collective bargaining units and fringe benefits related to pension expenses. This was offset by a decrease in utility expenses due to lower fuel prices and consumption.

The increase in operating expenses during the fiscal year ended June 30, 2017 was due primarily to a rise in fringe benefit expenses because of a significant increase in the pension expense for the State Employees' Retirement System (SERS). The majority of this increase was attributed to changes in experience data and economic assumptions used to calculate the total pension liability. Depreciation and amortization expenses also grew due to a significant increase in depreciable assets, including the Next Generation Residence Hall, and the Monteith and Putnam Refectory Renovations. This was offset by a decrease in supplies and other expenses, primarily due to the reclassification of reimbursements from UConn Heath, which UConn previously reported as operating revenue, but reported as a reduction in operating expenses in fiscal year 2017.

The growth in operating expenses during the fiscal year ended June 30, 2018 was due, in large part, to an increase in supplies and other university operating expenses, including research, academic support, student services, institutional support, plant operations and maintenance, and auxiliary enterprises. Salaries and wages also increased due to one-time lump-sum payments and merit bonuses awarded to employees in accordance with the 2017 State Employees' Bargaining Agent Coalition (SEBAC) agreement, combined with an increase in full-time equivalent employees. This was offset by a decrease in fringe benefit expenses due to pension benefit changes in the 2017 SEBAC agreement.

Non-operating Revenues and Expenses

Non-operating revenues and expenses are not from the sale, exchange, or purchase of goods and services that support the operations of the university. Non-operating revenues include items such as appropriations from the State of Connecticut for general operations, the state's debt service commitment for interest, federal and state financial aid, noncapital gifts, investment income, and interest income.

Non-operating revenues and expenses, as presented in UConn's financial statements for the audited period and the prior fiscal year, are as follows:

(\$ in thousands)	<u>2014-2015</u>	<u>2015-2016</u>	2016-2017	<u>2017-2018</u>
State Appropriations	\$ 350,699	\$ 384,747	\$ 374,113	\$ 342,987
State Debt Service Commitment for Interest	46,635	53,092	64,757	70,740
Federal and State Financial Aid	-	-	-	37,986
Gifts and Investment Income	24,717	26,828	26,624	25,791
Interest and Other Expenses	(47,960)	(55,226)	(60,905)	(68,671)
Net Non-operating Revenue	\$ 374,091	\$ 409,441	\$ 404,589	\$ 408,833

Net non-operating revenues totaled \$409.4 million, \$404.6 million, and \$408.8 million during the fiscal years ended June 30, 2016, 2017, and 2018, respectively, compared to \$374.1 million during the fiscal year ended June 30, 2015. These revenues increased \$35.3 million (9%) in fiscal year 2016, decreased \$4.9 million (1%) in fiscal year 2017, and then increased again by \$4.2 million (1%) in fiscal year 2018.

The growth in net non-operating revenues during the fiscal year ended June 30, 2016 was primarily due to additional state appropriations to fund collective bargaining increases, larger fringe benefit payments, and the Next Generation Connecticut initiative. General Fund support in the form of the state debt service commitment for interest on UConn 2000 related bonds also increased in fiscal year 2016, as did the interest expense.

The decrease in net non-operating revenues during the fiscal year ended June 30, 2017 was primarily due to a reduction in state appropriations because of the fiscal year 2017 budget deficit. This was offset by an increase in state debt service commitment for interest on UConn 2000 related bonds due in part to a larger proportion of bond proceeds designated for UConn projects. The increase in interest revenue from the state corresponded with the additional interest expense for fiscal year 2017.

The increase in net non-operating revenues during the fiscal year ended June 30, 2018 was due primarily to the reclassification of federal and state financial aid from operating revenues to non-operating revenues (expenses). There was also an increase in state debt service commitment for interest on UConn 2000 related bonds, as well as an increase in interest expense. This was offset by a decrease in state appropriations due to fiscal year 2018 state budget reductions.

Other Changes in Net Position

Other changes in net position are comprised primarily of the state's debt service commitment for principal and capital grants and gifts.

Other changes in net position, as presented in UConn's audited financial statements for the audited period and previous fiscal year, are as follows:

(\$ in thousands)	2014-2015	<u>2015-2016</u>	2016-2017	2017-2018
State Debt Service Commitment for	\$ 56,430	\$ 103,400	\$ 281,576	\$ 187,269
Principal				
Capital Allocation	131,500	-	-	-
Capital Gifts and Grants	25,412	5,071	1,388	5,099
Other	(407)	(8,472)	(269)	338
Other Changes in Net Position	\$ 212,935	\$ 99,999	\$ 282,695	\$ 192,706

Other changes in net position totaled \$100.0 million, \$282.7 million, and \$192.7 million during the fiscal years ended June 30, 2016, 2017, and 2018, respectively, compared to \$212.9 million during the fiscal year ended June 30, 2015. Other changes in net position decreased \$112.9 million (53%) in fiscal year 2016, increased \$182.7 million (183%) in fiscal year 2017, and then decreased again by \$90.0 million (32%) in fiscal year 2018.

The decrease in other changes in net position during the fiscal year ended June 30, 2016 was primarily due to reductions in capital allocation as a result of general obligation bonds issued by the state to finance construction for projects on UConn's behalf within the technology park in fiscal year 2015. There were no amounts allocated to UConn in fiscal years 2016, 2017, and 2018. Capital gifts and grants also decreased due to large non-recurring capital gifts received in fiscal year 2015. This was offset by an increase in General Fund support in the form of the state debt service commitment for principal on UConn 2000 related bonds, due to a larger issuance of general obligation bonds than in the prior year.

The state made a commitment to paying an annual amount of debt service on securities issued as general obligations of the university. Given that, the growth in other changes in net position during the fiscal year ended June 30, 2017, was primarily due to an increase in General Fund support in the form of the state debt service commitment for principal on UConn related bonds. The increase in revenue associated with the state debt service commitment for principal was due, in part, to a larger proportion of bond proceeds designated for UConn projects. Furthermore, there was an increased amount of proceeds related to debt issued in the current year and recorded as revenue compared with proceeds used to directly refund debt that existed in the previous fiscal year. Other expenses also decreased, primarily due to the disposal of the Connecticut Commons complex in fiscal year 2016 combined with an increase in permanent endowments. This was offset by a decrease of capital grants and gifts mainly due to property that was acquired through the dissolution of the UConn Alumni Association in fiscal year 2016.

The decrease in other changes in net position during the fiscal year ended June 30, 2018 was primarily caused by a reduction in revenue related to state debt service commitment for principal,

due in part to general obligations issued with a lower par amount in the current year. Furthermore, the proportion of bond proceeds designated for UConn Health projects, which is reported as a reduction in revenue, was higher in fiscal year 2018. This was offset in part by an increase in capital grants and gifts, due primarily to the transfer of assets from UConn Health in connection with the consolidation of the police and fire department services in fiscal year 2018.

Net Position

Net position includes investments in capital assets net of liabilities, restricted funds, and unrestricted funds. Net position, as presented in UConn's financial statements for the audited period and prior fiscal year, is presented below:

(\$ in thousands)	2014-2015	2015-2016	2016-2017	2017-2018
Net Investment in Capital Assets	\$ 1,2074,892	\$ 1,365,918	\$1,557,469	\$ 1,682,317
Restricted Nonexpendable	13,091	12,593	14,483	15,044
Restricted for Expendable:				
Research, Instruction, Scholarship,				
and Other	19,334	24,455	34,058	32,273
Loans	2,533	2,520	2,543	2,566
Capital Projects	184,023	49,637	89,146	134,453
Unrestricted	(429,274)	(401,998)	(454,454)	(1,786,425)
Total Net Position	\$ 997,599	\$ 1,053,125	\$1,243,245	\$ 80,228

UConn's net position balance totaled \$1,053.1 million, \$1,243.2 million, and \$80.2 million during the fiscal years ended June 30, 2016, 2017, and 2018, respectively, compared to \$997.6 million during the fiscal year ended June 30, 2015. Net position increased \$55.5 million (6%) and \$190.1 million (18%) in fiscal years 2016 and 2017, respectively, and decreased \$1,163.0 million (94%) in fiscal year 2018.

The large decrease in Net Position as of June 30, 2018 is primarily due to the implementation of GASB Statement 75, which required a \$1.2 million adjustment to the beginning balance for UConn's share of the non-pension postemployment benefits.

Related Entities

UConn did not hold significant endowment and similar fund balances during the audited period, as it has been the university's longstanding practice to deposit donations with the University of Connecticut Foundation, Inc. (UConn Foundation) or the University of Connecticut Law School Foundation, Inc. (Law School Foundation). The UConn Foundation provides support for UConn and the UConn Health Center. Its financial statements reflect balances and transactions associated with both entities. The Law School Foundation was dissolved as of June 30, 2017, and all remaining assets, including endowed funds, restricted non-endowed funds, and other investment funds, were distributed to the UConn Foundation to be managed in accordance with all donor restrictions and for the sole benefit of the University's Law School. A summary of the two foundations' assets, liabilities, net position, revenue and support, and expenses, as per those audited financial statements, follows:

	Univ	ersity of Connec	ticut Foundation.	Inc.
(\$ in thousands)	<u>2014-2015</u>	<u>2015-2016</u>	2016-2017	2017-2018
Assets	\$ 481,944	\$ 475,537	\$ 518,688	\$ 575,448
Liabilities	46,162	44,723	43,113	41,019
Net Position	435,782	430,814	475,575	534,430
Revenue and Support	53,422	48,815	93,291	110,041
Expenses	54,422	53,892	48,530	51,186
	Law School Foundation, Inc.			
		Law School Fo	oundation, Inc.	
(\$ in thousands)	<u>2014-2015</u>	2015-2016	2016-2017	<u>2017-2018</u>
(\$ in thousands) Assets	2014-2015 \$ 22,854			<u>2017-2018</u> \$
		<u>2015-2016</u>	<u>2016-2017</u>	
Assets	\$ 22,854	2015-2016 \$ 23,131	2016-2017 \$ 24,188	
Assets Liabilities	\$ 22,854 3	2015-2016 \$ 23,131 21	2016-2017 \$ 24,188 35	
Assets Liabilities Net Position	\$ 22,854 3 22,851	2015-2016 \$ 23,131 21 23,110	2016-2017 \$ 24,188 35 24,153	\$ - - -

STATE AUDITORS' FINDINGS AND RECOMMENDATIONS

Our examination of the records of the University of Connecticut disclosed the following 28 findings and recommendations, of which 8 have been repeated from the previous audit:

Public Solicitation for Projects Exceeding \$500,000

Background: When construction projects are considered complex, risky in nature, or

require multiple phases, the university may utilize the construction manager at risk (CMR) delivery method. CMR requires the construction manager to commit to delivering the project within a guaranteed

maximum price.

Criteria: Section 10a-109n(c)(2)(A) of the General Statutes requires that "...the

construction of a university project which is estimated to cost more than five hundred thousand dollars, shall be publicly let by the university. The university shall give notice to contractors interested in prequalifying to submit a project proposal or bid, by posting any such notice on the university web site and on the State Contracting Portal."

Condition: During our review of 6 construction manager at risk contracts totaling

\$291,408,084, we found that UConn did not competitively solicit 2 projects, totaling \$26,619,653 and \$16,544,703. In both instances, the university awarded a contract to a CMR already engaged on another

project.

Effect: The university did not comply with the general statute. The lack of

solicitation for services could result in higher costs.

Cause: The university felt that it did not have to publicly solicit for construction

management services under the circumstances.

Prior Audit Finding: This finding has not been previously reported.

Recommendation: The University of Connecticut should comply with Section 10a-

109n(c)(2)(A) of the General Statutes and publicly solicit projects with costs estimated to exceed \$500,000, by posting them on the university's website and Department of Administrative Services' State Contracting

Portal. (See Recommendation 1.)

Agency Response: "The University of Connecticut is in agreement that projects with costs

estimated to exceed \$500,000 should be publicly bid out.

However, in certain circumstances, such as the two projects identified within this recommendation, there may be companion or enabling

projects contemplated under the entire budget of a larger CM project, and are necessary to complete the larger CM project. In these instances, due to the proximity and inter-related project elements relative to the larger project, decisions are made to assign the management of the enabling or companion project to the current CM. The construction packages for the enabling projects or companion projects are publicly bid through the CM relationship which satisfies C.G.S. Section 10a-109n(c)(2)(A). As the two projects included in the finding met the aforementioned circumstances, the University deems that it was in compliance with statutory requirements for bidding projects greater than \$500,000. The University believes no further action is warranted."

Auditors' Concluding Comment:

Our review of the documentation provided to us related to the 2 projects in the above condition leads us to believe the projects were large and distinctly separate enough to require public solicitation.

Professional Services Competitive Selection

Criteria:

Capital Projects and Facilities Procurement (CPFP) policies dictate that when professional services costs are estimated to exceed \$500,000, CPFP will publicly advertise the request for qualifications, and a competitive solicitation selection process is initiated.

Condition:

During our review of construction change orders, we noted that UConn did not competitively solicit 2 professional design projects, with costs exceeding \$500,000. Instead, the university awarded the projects to firms previously selected for design services on other projects.

- One project's design contract, with an initial value of \$3,950,950, was amended 16 times. The amendments totaled \$4,655,384 and included \$1,242,095 in design services for a separate project that the university did not competitively solicit.
- One project's design contract, with an initial value of \$11,875,000, was amended 11 times. The amendments totaled \$3,617,380 and included \$3,035,161 in design services for a separate project that the university did not competitively solicit.

Effect:

Potential vendors were denied the opportunity to bid on the contract. The university's ability to obtain the most qualified vendor at the most competitive price was decreased.

Cause:

The university felt that it did not have to competitively solicit for the design services under the circumstances.

Prior Audit Finding:

This finding has not been previously reported.

Recommendation:

The University of Connecticut should adhere to its policies and publicly solicit design projects with costs greater than \$500,000. (See Recommendation 2.)

Agency Response:

"While Management agrees with this recommendation, the University believes that it has adhered to the requirements to publicly solicit design projects with costs greater than \$500,000 both generally and in the two instances cited in this finding. The University believes no further action is warranted.

The two cited instances are for two different projects (the Athletics District Development and the Science 1 Building) and they have some similarities and differences; but ultimately, we believe sufficient notice and information was provided in the original solicitations for the projects that shows the intention to award the scope of work.

One of the similarities between the two projects is that in both the University chose for accounting and funding clarity to create two project numbers for a single scope of work. These "associated" projects are therefore not separate but are intertwined with the site enabling and utility extension work under one project number and the new building or facility costs under a second project number. Both portions ultimately were needed to construct and operate the facility. The solicitation for the design services for both projects as a whole stipulated that a certain level of conceptual design be completed before the associated projects could be fully quantified.

In the case of the Athletics District Development, the task orders for the \$1.24 million are for design services for utility extensions from the new Performance Building and stadia to the campus infrastructure. The basis of this work was the University's framework contract with BVH Engineers that was solicited in 2015. The solicitation specifically describes the engagement under this contract as a "long-term, multiyear, multi-project engagement with the successful firm such that the evaluation, planning, mapping and design of the utilities infrastructure framework, its related future utility projects and the maintenance of utility system modeling necessary to support the Capital and Master Plans are under the purview of this contract". The intention and application of the framework contract, which was consistent with the terms outlined in its solicitation and based on fee formulas, was to add utility extension design to projects that must be integrated and attached to the campus-wide infrastructure system, which is how this contract and design work were implemented.

In the case of the Science 1 Building, the task order amendment for the \$3.0 million is similarly for utilities and infrastructure, but for

coordination purposes on an extremely complex project, this work was identified in the solicitation for this project to be added to the base design fee after completion of the conceptual design. The solicitation specifically states that "after acceptance of the proposed conceptual site plan, the University will evaluate additional services for the design team to incorporate additional site development and any necessary reconfiguration of existing conditions associated with the selected Science 1 parcel site". We believe this clause clearly outlines the expectation for the bidders that this future work will be included in the design package.

On both of these projects, we believe that it would be unreasonable and technically impractical to attempt to bid this work as separate projects to another design team as the scopes of work are interdependent and intermingled to the base jobs. Thus, we feel that the statements in the project solicitations that these tasks would be defined and included as future task orders adequately covers and meets the requirement to publicly solicit the design work."

Auditors' Concluding Comment:

Our review of the documentation provided to us related to the projects described in the above condition leads us to believe the projects were large and distinctly separate enough to require public solicitation.

Hartford Relocation Project

Background:

In June of 2014, to facilitate the development of a campus in downtown Hartford, the University of Connecticut entered into a contract with a development company. According to the agreement, the developer was responsible for contracting and delivering the design, construction, and completion of the campus in downtown Hartford. Subsequent to the project's completion, the university's West Hartford campus operations and programs moved to the new Hartford campus.

Criteria:

Cost is a major consideration in any procurement process. An important objective in negotiating with companies providing services is to reach a complete and mutual understanding of the scope of the services to be provided as well as the compensation for such services.

Condition:

Initial contracts signed by the developer and the university established an estimated construction budget of \$70,000,000, and a not to exceed total campus project budget for the renovation of the Hartford Times Building (HTB) of \$87,000,000. The guaranteed maximum price for the construction budget was eventually set at \$97,988,652. Subsequently, the university adjusted the contract 24 times, with more than 283

changes, increasing the HTB construction to \$102,896,043, and total campus renovation costs to \$116,701,564.

Effect: The costs for this project far exceeded the original budget.

Cause: The university did not follow the standard procurement process for

construction projects, and as such, failed to establish a proper scope and

compensation for the services.

Prior Audit Finding: This finding has not been previously reported.

Recommendation: The University of Connecticut should establish the scope and costs of

construction projects to ensure that their actual costs are reasonable and consistent with a properly developed original budget. (See

Recommendation 3.)

Agency Response: "Management disagrees with the finding. At the outset of a large multi-

faceted project, it is customary and reasonable to rely on preliminary benchmark estimates. The University established the scope and costs appropriately, timely, and consistent with the Board of Trustee approvals and expectations for the project as a whole. In fact, overall the \$140 Million Hartford campus relocation project was completed 6% under the approved budget. Further, the University contends that it did follow a standard and allowable procurement method, and that the comparison of the starting and ending values of only one portion of the project has little to no relevance. The University believes no further

action is warranted.

The relocation of any campus, and as in the case of the Hartford Campus Relocation project, was unprecedented, and the development of the scope of this multi-faceted project was extraordinary. We believe the comparison of a preliminary benchmark estimate for the design and construction of one piece of the project to the final fully-developed cost of that individual piece is too simplistic and does not provide recognition of the required complete development process and the ultimate complexity of the derivation of the whole project scope to relocate the campus.

The developer was solicited through a public Request for Expressions of Interest (RFEI) process commenced in 2013, and concluded in 2014, and allowed pursuant to CGS 10a-109d. Their selection was a quality-based selection, not a cost-based selection, and the focus was on selecting a central site to anchor the new campus location. The developer was hired based on a fee-for-service contract, utilizing a benchmark estimate for the value of the development agreement, and their scope of services are clearly delineated therein. In addition, there

were an additional 18 contractual agreements required to relocate the totality of the campus operations. The Hartford Times Building was designed and constructed under the development agreement with HB Nitkin (dba FSD University), while the project's total scope and budget included additionally the purchase of an existing building, the renovation of a building for the School of Social Work, a partnership and interior renovation of the Hartford Public Library and the leasing and build-out of a new bookstore and cafe. The Board approved budget for the Hartford Campus Relocation project was \$140.0 Million, and the final costs were \$131.8 Million or \$8.2 Million under budget.

Pursuant to UConn Board policies, and as outlined in the development agreement, once the scope of this individual piece of the project could be ascertained versus the other pieces, the Hartford Times Building was constructed under a Guaranteed Maximum Price (GMP) construction contract. We are not aware of any industry standard metrics concerning the number of change orders or change events on a GMP, but the industry does recognize the cost of changes in the 3% to 5% range as a measure of the acceptability of the designated and designed scope of work. The change percentage on this GMP was 5% and is a solid indicator that the scope and design were within an acceptable and anticipated range."

Auditors' Concluding Comment:

The initial contracts signed by the developer and the university established an estimated construction budget of \$70,000,000, and a not to exceed total campus project budget for the renovation of the Hartford Times Building of \$87,000,000. The final construction and total campus renovation costs were \$102,896,043 and \$116,701,564, respectively, each of which are far in excess of the "3% to 5% range" cited by the university.

Sabbatical Leave Program

Criteria:

UConn's bylaws state that sabbatical leave is for a period of one year (two semesters). Leave may be taken for a full period (one year) at half pay or for up to half the period at full pay.

UConn's bylaws require that, upon completion of a sabbatical leave, employees return to active service at the university for at least one year. Furthermore, per UConn's Sabbatical Leave Request Form, employees not returning to full-time service for one year following the sabbatical leave are required to return amounts paid to them during the leave. The bylaws also require employees to provide a written summary of the work done during the leave to the officer who approved the leave.

Condition:

Our review of 10 employees who participated in the university's sabbatical leave program identified the following exceptions:

- One instance in which a faculty member was granted a full period (one year) of sabbatical leave at full pay totaling approximately \$199,000.
- Two instances in which UConn paid faculty members on sabbatical leave \$46,000 and \$41,000, but they did not return to service. In both instances, UConn waived the pursuit of repayment and the amounts were never repaid. Additionally, in both instances, the employees failed to submit the written report summarizing their work during the leave.
- One instance in which a retiring dean was not required to return to full-time service subsequent to a fully paid six-month sabbatical leave. UConn instead granted the dean 4 additional months of paid administrative leave. The sabbatical leave, combined with the paid administrative leave, totaled 10 months at a cost of \$157,000.

Effect:

UConn incurred costs inconsistent with what its bylaws permit. In the three instances in which university employees did not return to full-time service, UConn failed to realize the intended benefit of the sabbatical leave program.

Cause:

UConn did not follow its bylaws related to the sabbatical leave program.

Prior Audit Finding:

This finding has not been previously reported.

Recommendation:

The University of Connecticut should adhere to its bylaws when administering the sabbatical leave program, document any deviation from its formal policy in writing, and vet sabbatical leave via an appropriate approval process. (See Recommendation 4.)

Agency Response:

"The University of Connecticut agrees with the recommendation. The Office of the Provost has sent out to the Dean's offices clear guidance relating to requirements for proper documentation relating to sabbatical leaves, including the requirement that faculty return to active service for one year following the sabbatical leave. Monitoring at the level of academic departments is required so that the Office of Human Resources is informed if a faculty member will be separating from the University immediately after or within one year of a sabbatical leave. The Office of the Provost will continue to work with administrators in schools and colleges to make sure that such monitoring is taking place and that any such instances are communicated to Human Resources in a timely manner.

Clear guidelines will be provided online, in the Bylaws and in the Faculty & Staff Handbook giving notice to faculty wishing to take sabbatical leave the requirement to complete one year of full-time service following the leave. Faculty will also be required to certify in CORE-CT their understanding of the return to service requirement when applying for sabbatical leave.

The Office of the Provost, with input and guidance from the Office of Human Resources, will review and approve documented exceptions to the policy where warranted."

Excessive Compensation

Criteria: Compensation should be commensurate with work performed. When a

managerial employee moves to a position that requires less time and effort, the compensation should be reduced to a level appropriate to the

new job duties.

Condition: We reviewed 18 employees who stepped down from management

positions during the audited period. Each employee moved from a 12-month management position to a 9, 10, or 11-month faculty position. Of the 18 employees, we found 7 instances in which the university increased the employees' monthly compensation rate after changing positions. We were not able to obtain documentation to justify the

increased compensation rates.

Effect: It appears that the university did not reduce the employees'

compensation to the level appropriate for their new jobs.

Cause: The university did not have adequate controls in place to ensure that it

reduced the employees' compensation to levels commensurate with

their new positions.

Prior Audit Finding: This finding has been previously reported in the last audit report

covering the fiscal years ended June 30, 2014 through 2015.

Recommendation: The University of Connecticut should compensate employees who step

down from management positions at a level consistent with their new position. If a higher compensation rate is warranted, the university should document the appropriateness of the new salary. (See

Recommendation 5.)

Agency Response: "The University of Connecticut agrees with the recommendation and

believes no further action is warranted.

We agree employees who step down from management positions should be compensated at a level consistent with their new position. The auditors note that the basis for the finding is that a management employee who is on a 12-month compensation schedule had an increase in monthly compensation after they stepped down from the management position. This fact could occur even in the circumstance where the annual salary has been reduced as a result of the faculty member stepping back from a management position. Monthly compensation alone should not be the measure, e.g. a 100,000 annual salary for a 12 month position would yield a lower monthly salary than a 10 month 90,000 annual salary. There are a number of factors that go into to determining compensation when an individual returns to a nonmanagement role including any increase that members of the bargaining unit may have received in the interim that were not similarly provided to management employees. The University of Connecticut agrees that the rationale for the salary of a faculty member who has stepped down from a management position should be documented."

Auditors' Concluding Comment:

As described in the above condition, the university did not provide any documentation to support its rationale for the higher compensation rates.

Compensatory Time

Criteria:

Per the University of Connecticut Professional Employees Association (UCPEA) collective bargaining contract, Article 18.2, when an exempt employee is required by a supervisor to work extraordinary hours, the supervisor may (1) allow the employee to reduce work hours by an equivalent amount within the same pay period or (2) award compensatory time off to be used in a subsequent pay period. The first supervisor outside the bargaining unit (or designee) shall provide the employee with written confirmation of the requirement to work extraordinary hours, specifying the reason for the requirement, and identifying the anticipated reduction in schedule to account for the extraordinary hours worked. In the event that a reduced schedule within the same pay period is not possible or practical, the supervisor may instead provide the employee written authorization to accrue compensatory time for future use.

Article 18.3 states that employees shall make every effort to request the utilization of accrued compensatory time, and supervisors are encouraged to approve these requests when business needs permit. If an individual employee's accumulation exceeds a balance of 140 hours,

management may opt to pay for the time over 100 hours up to a maximum of 40 hours at a time.

UConn's Compensatory Time Procedures for UCPEA Employees in Exempt Positions states that a standard approval form (Compensatory Time Accrual Request Form) is necessary when the employee is required to work extraordinary hours. Employees must complete the form prior to the commencement of the extraordinary hours, specifying the reason and indicating prior supervisory approval.

Condition:

Our review of 10 employees earning a total of 5,725 hours of compensatory time identified the following exceptions:

- UConn did not properly approve compensatory time for 9 employees who earned 5,250 hours of compensatory time. For 8 of those employees, there was no documentation on file to indicate that management approved the extraordinary hours. For one employee, the compensatory time accrual request form was on file, but it did not indicate prior supervisory approval.
- Four employees did not request to utilize the accrued compensatory time. Instead, UConn paid the accrued compensatory time as additional compensation.
- UConn paid 2 employees for ineligible compensatory time. UConn paid one employee for 120 hours in a single paycheck. UConn paid the other employee for 160 hours in a single paycheck when the employee was eligible to be paid 80 hours over two paychecks.
- One employee earned approximately 1 to 2 hours of compensatory time per day throughout the audited period. The employee's activities while earning the compensatory time appeared to fall within the normal duties of the position, and did not appear to be extraordinary work hours.

Effect:

The university did not comply with the compensatory time provisions of the UCPEA contract. In the absence of adequate oversight and written managerial preapproval of compensatory time, there is a greater risk for impropriety and loss to occur.

The university spent more than it should have on compensatory time payments.

Cause:

The university did not have adequate procedures in place to ensure that it followed the established compensatory time policies.

The employee who earned one to two hours of compensatory time every day seemingly could not complete duties during regularly scheduled hours.

Prior Audit Finding: Recommendation:

This finding has not been previously reported.

The University of Connecticut should strengthen control procedures to ensure compliance with the compensatory time provisions set forth in the University of Connecticut Professional Employees Association contract. (See Recommendation 6.)

Agency Response:

"The University of Connecticut agrees with the recommendation and has implemented corrective action.

The current finding is for the audit period 2016 – 2018. Since approximately 2018, Faculty and Staff Labor Relations reporting to the UConn Office of Human Resources has ceased paying out compensatory time over 40 hours except in circumstances where there is a grievance and the University believes that it is in their best interest to resolve the grievance in favor of the employee. The University will refresh guidance for managers on the requirements for approving compensatory time and will conduct periodic audits to ensure compliance."

Separation Payments

Criteria:

Under UConn's Separation Policy for Unclassified Board of Trustees Exempt Managers and Confidential Employees, management and confidential employees who are involuntarily separated from UConn for reasons unrelated to their job performance, such as lay off, position elimination, or management reorganization, may be eligible for separation benefits. To receive separation benefits, the employee must execute a separation agreement and general release in a form acceptable to the university. At UConn's discretion, it may offer advance written notice of the effective date of separation, a lump sum payment of salary in lieu of notice, or a combination of the two.

Unless the relationship with an employee has deteriorated to the point that the employee's continued presence on site would be a detriment, offering notice is the fiscally prudent alternative. If, due to security and/or other risk concerns, management determines payment in lieu of notice is the judicious alternative, it is good business practice for management to document its consideration of the applicable risk factors and clearly describe the basis for its conclusion.

Management and confidential employees who are involuntarily separated from the university because of job performance are not

eligible for separation benefits.

Condition:

During a test of employees on leave with pay, we noted 9 instances that constituted payments of salary in lieu of notice to managerial employees. In 2 instances, UConn made a single lump sum payment in lieu of notice. In 7 instances, UConn paid the employees on an installment basis and placed them on paid leave for the time immediately prior to their separation date. Our review of the 9 employees identified the following exceptions:

- Six employees were separated involuntarily for reasons unrelated to their job performance. UConn did not provide written documentation supporting management's decision to pay the employees in lieu of notice. Based on the paid leave periods and employee pay rates, UConn paid the 6 employees a total of \$324,708.
- One employee was separated involuntarily because the university was concerned about his job performance. UConn paid the employee \$124,892, the equivalent of 12 months of salary and benefits. Subsequent to the separation, the university reorganized and eliminated the employee's position.
- One employee was separated involuntarily for non-performance of required duties. UConn paid the employee \$7,138, the equivalent of 2 months of salary and benefits. The university did not execute a separation agreement and general release for this employee.

Effect:

The separation payments may not have been a prudent use of the university's resources, and UConn lost the opportunity to benefit from the employees' services.

Two former employees who were not eligible for separation payments received improper benefits because they were separated involuntarily due to job performance.

Cause:

Management's judgement and discretion played a significant role in the decision to permit payment in lieu of notice. In addition, the university's policy did not require management to document its consideration of risk factors and basis for concluding that payment in lieu of notice was a more prudent decision than giving notice. Furthermore, the university stated that it did not consider requiring such documentation to be an acceptable employee relations practice.

Prior Audit Finding:

This finding has been previously reported in the last audit report covering the fiscal years ended June 30, 2014 through 2015.

Recommendation:

The University of Connecticut should provide notice instead of separation payments in instances of involuntary separation unrelated to job performance. However, if, due to security and/or other risk concerns, management determines that payment in lieu of notice is the prudent alternative, it should prepare written documentation of its consideration of the applicable risk factors and clearly describe the basis for its conclusion.

The university should not make separation payments to employees who were terminated for poor job performance. (See Recommendation 7.)

Agency Response:

"The University of Connecticut partially agrees with the recommendation and believes no further action is warranted.

As acknowledged in the finding above, there are situations in which an employee's continued presence on site would be a detriment and offering notice may be more fiscally prudent. UConn's Separation Policy for Unclassified Board of Trustees Exempt Managers and Confidential Employees explicitly provides for notice, or payment in lieu of notice, to employees prior to the effective date of a layoff, position elimination or other separation not related to performance or misconduct. The policy also permits continuation of health insurance and provision of outplacement services. In most cases, a management or confidential employee that has been issued a layoff notice is expected to continue providing service to UConn in an advisory or consultative capacity to either transition their responsibilities to others or to wind down their pending tasks and projects. For a variety of business reasons, such as security concerns and other risk management issues, UConn has adopted a policy that gives management the option to either release the employee during the notice period or have the employee work remotely. Finally, working for the full notice period with no separation payment may not be sufficient consideration necessary to enforce the required separation agreement and general release.

We do not agree that management should document its consideration as this documentation would potentially be available to the public and current employees."

Excess Payment for Unused Vacation Accrual

Criteria: Per the Benefits for Managerial and Confidential Exempt and Non-

Represented Faculty policy, payments for unused managerial and confidential employee vacation accruals are limited to a maximum of

60 days. The UConn board of trustees may modify this benefit.

Per the University of Connecticut Professional Employees Association (UCPEA) bargaining contract, UCPEA employees who separated from the university prior to July 1, 2016 are entitled to receive full pay for up to 44 days of unused vacation. UCPEA employees who separated July 1, 2016 or later are entitled to receive full pay for up to 60 days of

unused vacation.

tion: We reviewed payments to 35 employees for unused accumulated leave balances during the audited period. Our review disclosed the following:

• Per a separation agreement with the university, UConn paid one managerial employee \$42,040 for 70 days of accrued vacation. We found no indication that the board of trustees approved the additional \$6,006 payment for the 10 vacation days above the 60-

day maximum.

 Per a separation agreement with the university, UConn paid one UCPEA employee, separated from service prior to July of 2016, \$24,473 for 58.25 days of accrued vacation. The university overpaid the employee \$5,987 for the 14.25 vacation days above the 44-day

maximum.

Effect: The university overpaid two former employees \$11,993.

Cause: The university did not follow its policy or the UCPEA bargaining

contract when it made vacation leave separation payouts.

Prior Audit Finding: This finding has been previously reported in the last audit report

covering the fiscal years ended June 30, 2014 through 2015.

Recommendation: The University of Connecticut should follow all applicable policies,

procedures, and contracts when making vacation leave payouts upon an

employee's separation. (See Recommendation 8.)

Agency Response: "The University of Connecticut agrees with the recommendation and

believes no further action is warranted.

The University's Office of Human Resources revised in its entirety the Benefits for Managerial and Confidential Exempt and Non-Represented

Condition:

Faculty Policy, effective July 1, 2019. New provisions will eliminate any procedural risk as noted in the prior audit findings and more closely align to state policy."

Core-CT Access

Criteria:

The Core-CT Human Resources Management System (HRMS) Role Assessment Handbook emphasizes that agencies should not request that the agency human resources specialist role be assigned to an employee who has the agency payroll and/or time and labor specialist role. Access to any combination of these roles could allow an employee to enter someone into the system and pay them inappropriately, without oversight.

Where it is necessary for a user to be assigned roles that do not allow for a proper segregation of duties, the agency must submit a CO-1092 Security Request Form to Core-CT. The agency should use the form to explain why the dual roles are necessary within the agency and how the controls in place prevent inappropriate or fraudulent transactions within the system.

Condition:

Our review of the university's Core-CT access privileges during the audited period disclosed the following conditions:

- Eighteen employees had the human resources specialist role and the agency payroll and/or time and labor specialist role. This included all but two of the employees in the payroll department.
- Four of the 18 employees with dual access were not approved by Core-CT via the CO-1092 process. UConn did not provide Core-CT with written justification and safeguards for the conflicting roles.

Effect:

Unnecessary or inappropriate access to information systems could increase the risk of data system errors and fraud.

Cause:

UConn informed us that, to successfully manage the payroll department functions, there was a business need to assign dual roles due to limited staff and resources.

Prior Audit Finding:

This finding has not been previously reported.

Recommendation:

The University of Connecticut should review each user's Core-CT access and, if appropriate, adjust the level of employee access to improve the segregation of duties between the payroll and human resources functions. The university should submit a CO-1092 form with

appropriate justification for all employees with dual access. (See Recommendation 9.)

Agency Response:

"The University of Connecticut agrees with the recommendation and has implemented corrective action.

Payroll management has reviewed each staff member's Core-CT security access and made appropriate changes to improve the segregation of duties where feasible and permitted by operational requirements. Where dual access is required, Payroll has provided updated/renewed justifications to Core-CT via the CO-1092 process."

Timesheets

Criteria: Sound internal controls require that supervisors sign employee

timesheets to support the time they worked during a pay period. Approved timesheets provide some assurance that employees provided

services during the pay period.

Condition: We noted that 10 employees' timesheets were missing a supervisor's

approval. Instead, subordinates approved the timesheets of the higher

ranked employees.

Effect: The lack of supervisory approval decreased assurance that the

employees provided services during the pay period.

Cause: There was a weakness in controls related to the supervisory review of

employee timesheets.

Prior Audit Finding: This finding has not been previously reported.

Recommendation: The University of Connecticut should improve internal controls over

timesheet approval. (See Recommendation 10.)

Agency Response: "The University of Connecticut agrees that the best practice is for

supervisors to take direct responsibility for the review and approval of their employees' timesheets. However, there will be instances where delegation will enhance the effectiveness and efficiency of the operation without jeopardizing the internal control necessary for accountability. We will assess the current procedures for authorizing timesheet delegates and add additional levels of review and approval to the delegation request if necessary. We will also provide consistent communication to supervisors and their delegates of the responsibilities of delegation to ensure compliance with UConn policies and

procedures."

Rehire of Retired State Employees

Criteria:

UConn's rehired retiree policy states that compensation should not exceed 75% of the employee's preretirement salary for up to 120 work days. If the retiree works in a different position, the employee should be paid the established minimum salary. The policy also limits the rehiring of retirees to no more than three 120-day calendar years.

Condition:

Our review of 11 UConn retirees rehired during the audited period disclosed the following:

- UConn rehired 6 retirees for more than three 120-day periods.
- UConn paid 3 retirees hourly wages that exceeded 75% of their preretirement salary.

Effect:

UConn failed to comply with its rehired retiree policy.

Cause:

UConn did not have adequate controls in place to enforce its rehired retiree policy.

Prior Audit Finding:

This finding has not been previously reported.

Recommendation:

The University of Connecticut should not rehire its retired employees for more than three 120-day periods, in accordance with university policy. The university should ensure that compensation for rehired retirees is consistent with its policy. (See Recommendation 11.)

Agency Response:

"The University of Connecticut agrees with the recommendation and has implemented corrective action.

Per UConn policy on rehiring retirees: the use of re-employed retirees permits assignment of experienced and at times uniquely qualified individuals with proven abilities to meet immediate, temporary, seasonal and ongoing irregular staffing needs in many employee categories.

UConn has strengthened controls and processes and documents when necessary the rehiring of uniquely qualified individuals to meet immediate, temporary, seasonal and ongoing needs for all applicable employee categories. UConn's Office of Human Resources implemented in the fall of 2019 a Human Resources onboarding and applicant system called Page-Up. Questions regarding past employment with University of Connecticut and State of Connecticut is captured at the application level annually. The Office of Human Resources requests Executive Leadership to review rehired retirees annually and reviews for compliance with policy and intent as well as documents and

monitors when necessary if there are unique, skilled or emergent situations to be made for applicable clinical, research, academic, administrative or athletic division employees."

Holiday Time

Criteria:

Per UConn's policies, supervisors should properly review and approve employee timesheets at the end of each pay period to ensure accuracy. After timesheets are submitted, the Payroll Department should review Reported Time reports to confirm that the appropriate time reporting codes were used.

Condition:

Our review of holiday time charged on non-holidays revealed that 180 employees erroneously charged a total of 2,882 hours of holiday paid leave (HOL) on days that were not holidays, according to their schedule during the fiscal years ended June 30, 2017 and 2018.

We reviewed 20 of the employees with an aggregate of 828.25 hours of HOL charges on non-holidays and confirmed that their balances were incorrect. Upon our review, the university changed the hours from HOL to another reporting code. The breakdown of the changes are as follows:

- HOL charged to vacation 336.50 hours
- HOL charged to compensatory time used 45 hours
- HOL charged to holiday compensatory time used 7 hours
- HOL charged to regular hours 439.75 hours

Effect:

Employee time and attendance records are inaccurate when holiday time is incorrectly charged. Leave balances may be overstated, which may become a liability to the university.

Cause:

In certain instances, it appears that supervisors did not review employee timesheets properly. In addition, the Payroll Department did not perform a proper review of approved timesheets to identify the accuracy of time reporting codes used.

Prior Audit Finding:

This finding has not been previously reported.

Recommendation:

The University of Connecticut should ensure that supervisors review employee timesheets properly prior to approval, and the Payroll Department should verify that valid time reporting codes were used. The university should perform periodic reviews of employees who charged

holiday time on non-holidays to ensure that they accurately reported their time. (See Recommendation 12.)

Agency Response:

"The University of Connecticut agrees with the finding that some employees mistakenly coded timesheets with the 'HOL' time reporting code on days that were not designated as State holidays and has implemented corrective action.

Controls have been implemented by Payroll to identify and resolve erroneous coding of holiday time on timesheets. This includes biweekly audit reports to capture current and past cycle errors, as well as listserv notifications to employees and supervisors of time reporting requirements when a holiday occurs. Additionally, after the misuse of the 'HOL' code was identified, Payroll audited the entire time reporter population to ensure any discrepancies back to 9/16/16 were identified and corrected."

Vacation Accrual

Criteria:

Per university policy, managerial and confidential employees can carry up to 60 vacation days from one calendar year to the next. If employees have not reduced their vacation accruals to 60 days, the president, provost, vice provost, or vice president may give them permission to carry the additional days into the following year with the understanding that they will use those hours during the year and will not accrue over 60 days again.

Per the University of Connecticut Professional Employees Association (UCPEA) bargaining contract, employees can carry over a maximum of 60 vacation days from one calendar year to the next. An employee may obtain a one-time exception to carry over more than 60 days from a university vice president, director, or a designee. The extra vacation time diminishes until it reaches 60 days, and it cannot accumulate beyond 60 days again.

Condition:

Our review of unused vacation leave balances for 20 employees, 10 managerial and 10 UCPEA, disclosed the following:

- UConn granted 5 managerial employees multiple extensions to accrue more than 60 vacation days during the audited period.
- Four UCPEA employees carried over vacation hours that exceeded the number of their approved days.

Effect:

The university did not comply with its policy regarding the carryover of unused vacation balances.

Cause: The university has a long-standing practice of allowing

managerial/confidential employees to seek approval for an annual

carryover.

A Payroll Department employee erroneously recorded the vacation

accrual balances for the 4 UCPEA employees in 2016.

Prior Audit Finding: This finding has not been previously reported.

Recommendation: The University of Connecticut should institute procedures to ensure that

the carryover of vacation leave is monitored and approved in accordance

with university policy. (See Recommendation 13.)

Agency Response: "The University of Connecticut partially agrees with the

recommendation and believes no further action is warranted.

We agree that errors were made by a Payroll staff member in 2016 when processing vacation carryover for certain UCPEA employees and have implemented corrective action. That employee is no longer with the University, and these errors have since been corrected. Additionally, Payroll conducted a full audit of UCPEA, Management and Confidential employees whose Core-CT vacation balances exceeded 60 days at year end. Any identified balance discrepancies were resolved.

We are not in agreement with the finding regarding managerial employees. The long-standing practice has been to allow managerial/confidential employees to seek a yearly carryover in exceptional circumstances with appropriate approvals. Although the previous policy references the "understanding" that the additional days will be used that year and will not exceed 60 again, there is no language that prohibits employees in this classification from requesting another carryover due to exceptional circumstances. The policy on Leave Benefits for Managerial and Confidential Exempt Employees was updated 7/1/2019 to clarify this benefit."

Data Center

Background: The university requires active electronic access cards, with specific

permissions, to gain access to its two data centers.

Criteria: According to the University of Connecticut Data Center Access Policies

and Procedures Manual, upon an employee's termination or transfer, management is required to notify UConn's information technology services department so it can remove the employee's access to the data

center.

Condition:

Our review of active university data center electronic access cards disclosed that 2 former employees still had access privileges. Upon notification, the university disabled the electronic access cards 300 and 335 days after separation.

Our review also disclosed that UConn terminated a vendor's access around April 11, 2019. Due to a lack of supporting documentation, we were unable to determine the exact date UConn should have disabled the vendor's access. However, it appears there was at least a 6-month delay before the university acted.

Effect:

Unnecessary or inappropriate access to the data centers could result in the data being compromised, modified, or viewed by unauthorized individuals.

Cause:

The cardholder access custodian was not notified when access was no longer required.

Prior Audit Finding:

This finding has not been previously reported.

Recommendation:

The University of Connecticut should follow its established policies and remove data center access when it is no longer required. The university should conduct periodic reviews of all users with data center access to ensure they still require access. (See Recommendation 14.)

Agency Response:

"The University of Connecticut agrees with the recommendation and has implemented corrective action.

Management has initiated several activities in response to these findings. Integration between the University OneCard system and the physical data center access controls has been completed. All Faculty/Staff with a need to access data center facilities are required to use their OneCard for access. Upon separation from the institution, card access is automatically terminated following existing University processes. Vendor access is now limited and requires an escort by a member of the Data Center staff. In instances where construction staff are required to have data center access, they will be provided limited hours card access for the duration of construction activity and access cards will be collected at the end of the job. Policies surrounding data center access will be reviewed and updated accordingly including an annual review of those individuals with data center access."

Financial System Access Controls

Background: The University of Connecticut uses the Kuali Financial System (Kuali),

an automated information system, to maintain its accounting records.

Criteria: Sound internal controls over information systems require that

information system access granted to employees be promptly terminated

upon separation from the university.

Condition: Our review of 106 employees with Kuali access, who separated from

university employment during the audited period, disclosed 25 instances in which UConn did not promptly terminate their Kuali user accounts upon separation. In the instances noted, user access was maintained 178

days to 437 days after the employee separated from UConn.

Effect: Unnecessary or inappropriate access to information systems could

increase the risk of financial data system errors or fraud.

Cause: The Information Technology Services (ITS) department, which is

responsible for disabling Kuali user access, was not consistently notified

when employees separated from the university.

Prior Audit Finding: This finding has been previously reported in the last audit report

covering the fiscal years ended June 30, 2014 through 2015.

Recommendation: The University of Connecticut should promptly deactivate information

system access upon an employee's separation from employment. The university should periodically review information system access privileges to determine whether access is still appropriate. (See

Recommendation 15.)

Agency Response: "The University of Connecticut agrees with the recommendation and

has implemented corrective action.

Management agrees that additional measures were needed to ensure employees who separate from the University are removed from KFS in a timely manner. Recognizing this, ITS has already put in place several mitigations to identify these users and remove or limit access. These mitigations include: reviews of HR separation reports as they are made available to us, setting duration limits of 1 year on all student and affiliate KFS access requests, and receiving emails from ITS-Accounts when a user inactivation has been requested by Labor Relations. In addition, we have updated our full-review process with an electronic mechanism which can detect KFS users who no longer have an affiliation in the ID system so they can be promptly removed

(implemented July 2020)."

University Housing Policy

Criteria:

The University of Connecticut provides and manages short and long-term housing options for the recruitment and retention of faculty, staff, visiting scholars, and other university guests. The UConn housing policy provides guidance for this type of rental arrangement. The policy states that the Provost's Office, with the help of the Office of Residential Life, receives housing applications and prioritizes them based on application date and length of stay.

Sound business practices dictate that rental agreements should be in writing and signed by an authorized UConn representative and the tenant. In addition, the rental fee should be consistent with market rates, and based upon a thorough and appropriate market analysis.

If the university provides the occupant rent-free housing, the fair market value of the rent may be considered taxable income and subject to withholding and reporting.

Condition:

During our review of 10 university tenants, which encompassed 14 distinct rental periods and 12 lease agreements, we identified the following conditions:

- We could not determine the application receipt dates and awarding processes, as the university had no tracking system in place.
- Eight of the 10 tenants did not file a housing request form (application).
- There were no executed lease agreements in 2 of the 14 rental periods.
- Four of the 12 lease agreements were missing the tenant's or landlord's signature.
- UConn did not perform a market analysis to ensure that rental fees were consistent with market rates during the audited period.
- UConn provided a top university manager with free housing, including utilities, a year and a half after the employment start date. The initial offer letter did not contain language related to a housing benefit, but the parties added a housing addendum to the offer letter approximately one year after the employee's start date.

• The university did not provide a tenant receiving rent-free housing the information necessary to comply with tax laws.

Effect:

The university did not comply with established housing policies and procedures, which weakened internal controls and increased the likelihood of unfair and improper rental practices.

Failing to properly execute rental agreements and facilitate compliance with tax laws increased the potential for legal and tax violations.

Cause:

The university did not follow established housing policies and procedures. In certain instances, UConn fulfilled housing requests from senior management without the proper paperwork.

When providing rent-free housing, the university did not take the appropriate steps to facilitate tenant compliance with tax laws.

Prior Audit Finding:

This finding has not been previously reported.

Recommendation:

The University of Connecticut should follow its established housing policies and procedures to ensure that all rental arrangements are documented and in compliance with existing laws and regulations. All rental agreements should be in writing and signed by an authorized UConn representative and the tenant. When providing rent-free housing, the university should provide the tenant the information necessary to comply with tax laws. (See Recommendation 16.)

Agency Response:

"The University of Connecticut agrees with the recommendation and has implemented corrective action.

The management of the residential rental housing was previously with the Provost's Office with the assistance of Residential Life Facilities, which became the Building Services area of Facilities Operations. During FY 2017, the residential rental area moved under the Business Service Center of Facilities Operations. Since that time, many improvements have been made to the business processes in this area to ensure compliance with Policies and Procedures. The following steps were taken:

- A revised Policy on Residential Rental Properties was published on the UConn website effective May 3, 2019 and we are adhering to it.
- In FY 2019, we engaged a local Real Estate Agent/Consultant to perform a market analysis for each of the rental properties and rates were adjusted accordingly.

- An employee was assigned to be the Residential Rental Property Administrator in late FY 2018 as part of their job duties to ensure that all guests have applications and valid licensing agreements electronically filed within the Business Office, to manage the housing schedule, to be a resource for the guests and departments and to oversee the maintenance of the properties.
- Coordination with the Tax Compliance area in the Accounting Office beginning in July, 2018 established procedures where all applications for guests that will not self-pay are forwarded to the Tax Office (part of the Accounting Office) and a link on the Rental House website to the Tax Office website was created to inform guests of potential tax implications. Departments are charged through an electronic internal billing for guests that do not self-pay, and these billings are routed to the Tax Office through the Financial System's approval process in the Accounting Office. These procedures inform the Tax Office of all guests that do not self-pay and can then work with them on any potential tax liability."

Service Organization Control Reports

Criteria:

Service organization control (SOC) reports are used to gain assurance over outsourced operations. SOC 1 reports focus on internal control over financial reporting. SOC 2 and SOC 3 reports focus on compliance or operational controls relevant to security, availability, confidentiality, processing integrity, and privacy. An effective way of managing the risk of utilizing service organizations is by obtaining and reviewing the appropriate SOC reports. Documentation of the review process should include follow-up action taken in response to any reported deficiencies.

Condition:

UConn utilizes service organizations to perform various operations. We noted several instances in which the university did not obtain and review SOC reports. Additionally, in certain instances, UConn obtained SOC reports, but there was no evidence that they were reviewed.

Effect:

Failure to obtain and review SOC reports reduces UConn's assurance that proper safeguards are in place at prospective and current service organizations. Consequently, transactions processed and data maintained by service organizations may put UConn at a greater risk.

Cause:

UConn has not assigned specific responsibility for acquiring and reviewing SOC reports.

Prior Audit Finding:

This finding has been previously reported in the last audit report covering the fiscal years ended June 30, 2014 and 2015.

Recommendation:

The University of Connecticut should continue to develop a process to monitor and obtain assurance over external vendors by obtaining and reviewing their service organization control reports. (See Recommendation 17.)

Agency Response:

"The University of Connecticut agrees with the recommendation. With the participation of Information Security, Privacy, and Procurement Services, a new Vendor Risk Management (VRM) process is being developed. This process will leverage a VRM platform to evaluate vendors responses to a new standardized security questionnaire and gather relevant documents such as SOC reports, if they are available. This platform will also automate the process of requesting SOC reports annually and storing them along with other documentation related to the vendor. The University will address inclusion of existing vendors into the new platform once it is implemented, which will occur at regular contract intervals, at a minimum. The University anticipates that this process and platform will be in place by December 31, 2020."

Credit Cards

Background:

Under the University of Connecticut MasterCard Purchasing Card Program, cardholders can pay for goods and services using a university purchasing card, a credit card issued by JP Morgan Chase. This is a procurement tool that provides an alternative to the university's standard procurement processes. The university spent \$17,588,891, \$17,798,732, and \$18,833,654 on purchasing cards during fiscal years 2016, 2017, and 2018, respectively.

Criteria:

Each month, cardholders are required to complete and sign a purchasing card log certifying that all purchases are consistent with the university's policies and procedures. It is good business practice to require the cardholder's supervisor to review and sign the log, attesting to the accuracy of the cardholder's statement.

Condition:

UConn does not require the cardholder's supervisor to approve the purchasing card log.

Effect:

Internal controls over the purchasing card program were reduced. Specifically, the instances in which the cardholder's supervisor did not approve the purchasing card log reduced assurance that the cardholder's purchases were consistent with UConn policies and procedures.

Cause:

UConn informed us that, due to system limitations, the university has been unable to develop a process to accurately identify the appropriate approver.

Prior Audit Finding: This finding has been previously reported in the last 3 audit reports

covering the fiscal years ended June 30, 2010 through 2015.

Recommendation: The University of Connecticut should require that purchasing card logs

be approved by the cardholder's supervisor. (See Recommendation 18.)

Agency Response: "Management does not agree that purchasing card logs be approved by

the transaction is denied.

a staff member with supervisory authority over the cardholder. Management does agree that there should be approvals and controls regarding Purchasing Card (P-Card) transactions. The University's P-Card program facilitates the purchase of and payment for small-dollar goods and services. Pre-set limits and set Merchant Category Codes (MCCs) are assigned to each P-Card. The MCC is a four-digit code assigned to every vendor that accepts a charge card which identifies the products and/or services provided. UConn has set the MCC codes best associated with the business of the University. If a cardholder tries to use their P-Card for a purchase where the MCC code is not assigned,

Employees are only issued P-Cards with the approval from the employee's direct supervisor plus the appropriate Dean, Director or Department Head.

Although the P-Card program does not require the supervisor to sign off on the purchasing card log, every transaction requires an approval in Kuali Financial Systems (KFS) by the Fiscal Officer (FO) for the account number they are responsible for. The FO at UConn is the responsible person on a KFS account who ensures the purchases are made consistent with UConn's policies and procedures.

The FO's P-card approval process is the same as the one in place for transactions made through HuskyBuy (UConn's on-line procurement system). Further, purchases that are made by an FO route to that person's supervisor for approval.

UConn is in the process of implementing a Concur product for P-Card reconciliations called "Company Billed Statements (CBS)". CBS will require the FO to review and approve transactions assigned to their accounts to ensure fiscal compliance. If the FO is also the cardholder, the transaction will route to the Supervisor for approval. CBS requires an attached receipt for each transaction, and each transaction must also be approved by the FO. Exceptions will be routed to the Dean, Director or Department head for approval."

Ethics Certifications

Criteria: Per Section 4-252 of the General Statutes, as amended by Governor

Dannel Malloy's Executive Order No. 49, entities entering into large state contracts must furnish ethics certifications to the contracting

agency at the time of execution.

Condition: UConn did not obtain all the required ethics certifications for 8 of the

36 contracts reviewed.

Effect: UConn did not comply with the state requirements designed to

encourage ethical behavior.

Cause: UConn did not have sufficient controls in place to ensure that it obtained

all the required certifications.

Prior Audit Finding: This finding has been previously reported in the last 3 audit reports

covering the fiscal years ended June 30, 2010 through 2015.

Recommendation: The University of Connecticut should obtain ethics certifications in a

manner consistent with Section 4-252 of the General Statutes. (See

Recommendation 19.)

Agency Response: "The University of Connecticut agrees with the recommendation and

has implemented corrective action.

Management notes that certain of the contracts referenced in the audits were State agreements, and the requisite forms were on file with DAS as the contract holder. Additionally, the University's procurement area has implemented a module in its contract management software program that automatically notifies buyers and contractors of the

renewal of required ethics certifications."

Employee Tuition Waivers

Criteria: UConn offers employee, spousal, and dependent child tuition waivers

and reimbursement to certain eligible personnel. The employee tuition waiver requires employees taking classes during regular work hours to complete a Temporary Flexible Schedule form, which their supervisor must approve. The form is completed and approved to document that

there are no conflicts in an employee's schedule.

Condition: During our review of 25 individuals who received a tuition

reimbursement or waiver, we noted that 3 employees took classes during regular work hours. Of those 3 employees, we noted the

following:

- One employee did not complete a Temporary Flexible Work Schedule form.
- One employee had a supervisor-approved Temporary Flexible Work Schedule form on file that indicated that the employee's work and class schedule conflicted on certain days.

Effect: UConn did not comply with its employee tuition waiver policies, which weakened internal controls over these waivers.

Missing or inaccurate Temporary Flexible Work Schedules forms increase the risk that an employee will be inappropriately compensated

for time spent in class.

Cause: A lack of administrative oversight over employee tuition waivers

resulted in this condition.

Prior Audit Finding: This finding has not been previously reported.

Recommendation: The University of Connecticut should ensure that employees with

tuition waivers who attend classes during regularly scheduled work hours complete the required Temporary Flexible Work Schedule form and ensure that their work and class schedules do not conflict. (See

Recommendation 20.)

Agency Response: "The University of Connecticut agrees with the recommendation. The

University will refresh guidance for managers on the requirements for approving Temporary Flexible Work Schedule while a Tuition Waiver

is in place."

Construction Expenditure Authorization

Criteria: Proper internal controls require that management approve and review

all change requests prior to the commencement of additional work on a

construction project.

Condition: During our review of 11 construction contracts, we examined 32 project

change requests totaling \$19,512,656. Our review noted that the contractors performed services for 16 change order requests, totaling

\$1,377,315, prior to the approval of the change request.

Effect: Failure to approve change requests prior to performing work can

increase costs, unintentionally change the project scope, and override

management controls.

Cause: There were internal control deficiencies within management's change

order approval process

Prior Audit Finding: This finding has not been previously reported.

Recommendation: The University of Connecticut should strengthen internal controls to

ensure that it approves change order requests prior to the

commencement of services. (See Recommendation 21.)

Agency Response: "While the University of Connecticut generally agrees with this

recommendation, the University believes that adequate project management and contractual controls are in place to generally authorize work before it is undertaken. Practically, not all change requests can be processed before work proceeds and stopping or delaying the start of change order work can be extremely detrimental to projects in certain instances. The University believes that the appropriate balance between "good faith" project management and cost risk has been attained. The

University believes no further action is warranted.

We note that these identified instances occurred in 2016 and 2017, and since that time, UPDC has strengthened internal controls by implementing changes in the project management software system (Unifier) and adding new automated processes to allow faster authorizations for work. These new processes for the authorization of Construction Change Directives (CCD) for construction work and Architectural Services – Notice to Proceed (AS-NTP) increase the likelihood that work will be authorized in advance of being commenced.

Further, UConn's contracts are clear that any work performed prior to written authorization is at that party's sole risk and that the University is not liable for any expense until a written authorization is received for same. The University has the unilateral ability to accept or reject proposed costs even if the work was commenced.

Ideally, cost changes are fully approved prior to the commencing of work. There are instances in which that is not possible. For example, in cases where life safety or unforeseen conditions are encountered in the field. In those instances, proceeding with necessary work is ultimately beneficial to the project and the University, avoids schedule delays and/or limits unnecessary expenses and risk due to delayed work."

On-Call Professional Services Program

Background:

The Capital Projects and Facilities Procurement (CPFP) department has an on-call professional services program in which prequalified firms perform work under specific categories of professional services. Per the university's policy, there are two ways to select a firm under this program.

The first is to solicit the entire pool of firms in a particular services category using a solicitation process. The assignment is awarded to the firm with the lowest cost.

The second is to assign a firm through the equalization rotational process. CPFP reviews the requirements of the task with the initiating department, including the estimated design budget, and assigns the next available firm using established guidelines.

Criteria:

The CPFP policy to monitor and assign firms based on the equalization rotational process includes a review of the following criteria when selecting a professional firm:

- a. The number and value of previous task orders under the firm's contract within the relevant subcategory
- b. The size and complexity of the related assignment
- c. The firm's ability and resources to complete the assignment in a timely manner
- d. Impact of other current assignments by the firm
- e. Any other criteria deemed to be in the university's best interests

If the university selects a firm based on the equalization rotational process, the estimated design budget cannot exceed \$500,000.

When using the equalization process, it is good business practice to formally document the decision-making process and rational for contractor selection.

Condition:

During our review of 5 on-call professional services program contracts, totaling \$3,131,941, we noted that all 5 contracts lacked the requisite documentation to support that the university adhered to the equalization rotational process when selecting the professional firm.

Effect: The university could not demonstrate that it followed the established on-

call professional services program policy. This lessens the assurance that UConn based awards on a rotational and rational manner in the

absence of a competitive environment.

Cause: The university failed to formally document the criteria used to assign

professional firms from the on-call professional services program.

Prior Audit Finding: This finding has not been previously reported.

Recommendation: The University of Connecticut should adhere to its on-call professional

services program policy when selecting a contractor. The university should formally document its criteria when it assigns a contractor from the on-call professional services program under the equalization

rotational process. (See Recommendation 22.)

Agency Response: "The University of Connecticut agrees that the University should adhere

to the on-call professional services program policy when selecting a contractor. The University believes no further action is warranted.

There have been times when the communication between CPFP and the end-user department is through email or verbal conversations. The University has updated the on-call policies and procedures in the Capital Projects and Facilities Procurement Policies and Procedures Manual in September 2019 for selecting appropriate professional service firms using the rotational equalization method. The University has also developed procedures to better document which of the Manual's criteria was used to assign firms from the On-Call Professional Services program."

Conflict of Interest

Background: For UConn 2000 projects, Connecticut General Statute (CGS) 10a-

109ff requires UConn and the Department of Administrative Services (DAS) to enter into a memorandum of understanding (MOU) to help ensure compliance with fire safety and state building codes. The MOU establishes the delegation of authority for UConn to enforce state building and fire codes, and temporarily assigns UConn personnel to DAS to help ensure code compliance. The MOU also requires that a DAS manager be assigned to UConn to provide the university with oversight and compliance services. In addition to the MOU, DAS issued guidance to UConn, which provides additional clarity and further

defines the roles and responsibilities of both agencies.

Criteria:

It is good business practice to require all contracted construction project managers to sign a conflict of interest form, disclosing all conflicts or potential conflicts of interest.

Condition:

During our review of the university's administration of construction projects, we noted the following exceptions:

- There was a conflict of interest between a DAS building inspector and his sibling. The building inspector provided oversight of UConn 2000 projects, and his brother was a contracted construction project manager for UConn.
- The university negotiated a 10-year contract with a company for project management services. The University, Planning, Design & Construction department estimates that there are approximately 20 of the company's consultants working in its department. The consultants may be responsible for managing and developing budgets, verifying payments to contractors, evaluating pricing, and validating change orders. The university does not require consultants to complete conflict of interest disclosure forms.

Effect:

Failing to disclose potential conflicts of interest increases the risk that UConn will not detect individuals with conflicts while they are working at the university.

Cause:

The university does not have a conflict of interest policy to address contractors and consultants.

Prior Audit Finding:

This finding has not been previously reported.

Recommendation:

The University of Connecticut should implement policies and procedures to ensure that contractors and consultants disclose potential conflicts of interest. (See Recommendation 23.)

Agency Response:

"The University of Connecticut does not agree with the recommendation. The University's current policies and procedures meet the State of Connecticut's requirements related to the avoidance of conflicts of interest. University employees are educated regarding their ethical obligations as State of Connecticut employees and are expected to advise the University when a conflict or potential conflict arises."

The University incorporates State of Connecticut statutes and Office of State Ethics provisions within its agreements and contracting processes. As such, and upon execution, vendors/contractors and their employees supporting such contractual services (which include the consultants

referenced in the condition of this finding) are required to inform the University of any potential conflicts of interest. There are no State statutes or provisions that require employees of vendors/contractors to individually complete conflict of interest disclosure forms.

The conflict mentioned in the recommendation was between a DAS inspector and an employee of a contractor of the University. Neither party was the employee of the University directly. The University discussed this proposed recommendation informally with the Office of Legal Affairs, Policy & Procurement, Department of Administrative Services. Their division agrees that requiring additional policies and affirmative representations of employees of state agency contractors would be difficult to implement and would create a significant administrative burden."

Auditors' Concluding Comment:

The contractors and consultants noted in our condition were assigned to work at the university over an extended period. They would benefit from the same formal ethics training as employees, which requires the disclosure of potential conflicts of interest.

Construction Program Management Oversight Services

Criteria:

Good business practices dictate that pricing information be considered as one of the criteria used to evaluate proposals submitted in the request for qualification (RFQ) process.

Section 10a-151b of the General Statutes requires constituent units of the state system of higher education to solicit competitive bids or competitive negotiation, when possible, when contracting for professional services. The statutory requirement for open, competitive procurement is intended to facilitate obtaining goods and services that provide the best value, avoid favoritism, and award public contracts in an equitable manner.

Condition:

Our review of the university's RFQ for program management oversight services (PMOS) and the development of an integrated project management software system (IPMSS) to support its capital construction programs, disclosed the following:

• The university entered into a 10-year contract with a professional services firm to provide PMOS at an amount not to exceed \$34,540,159. The university did solicit competitive bids for these services. We also found that the evaluation members reviewing the bids were not privy to the pricing information.

• The university entered into a separate 10-year contract with the same firm for the implementation of and support of an IPMSS at an amount not to exceed \$4,100,244. The IPMSS contractor spent up to \$3,250,668 of the \$4,100,244 on a consultant to provide the support services. The university did not separately bid these support services.

Effect:

The university could not demonstrate that it obtained products and services that provided the best value. There is increased risk that it paid more for services than it would have in a competitive environment.

Cause:

The university informed us that it used a quality-based selection process. Under such methodology, the university did not consider price as a criteria in the initial evaluation of bids. The university only considered cost during the final award recommendation and selection decision.

The university further informed us that the IPMSS award was included in the initial request for qualification for the program management oversight services.

Prior Audit Finding:

This finding has not been previously reported.

Recommendation:

The University of Connecticut should consider price as a criteria when evaluating bids during the competitive procurement process. The university also should document its consideration and evaluation of costs associated with subcontractors hired to perform a significant amount of the work on a contract. (See Recommendation 24.)

Agency Response:

"The University of Connecticut disagrees with this overarching recommendation. Not every competitive procurement effort includes the consideration of price as a criteria at the outset. The University has established policies and procedures for a quality-based selection process and this type of process is appropriate for some professional service agreements. Once a Vendor of Interest is selected through the quality-based selection process, the ultimate cost of the services is then negotiated between the University and the awarded contractor. As a result, price is considered in the University's procurement selection process."

Auditors' Concluding Comment:

The university should consider price throughout the entire competitive procurement process.

Conflict of Interest Disclosure

Criteria:

UConn's Employment and Contracting for Services of Relatives policy requires that employees, confronted with an employee decision or action involving a relative, complete a conflict of interest disclosure form. The employee submits the form to the supervisor, who forwards it to the appropriate senior manager for approval. The purpose of the senior manager's review and signature is to ensure that a senior manager outside of the immediate hiring process is aware and approves of the arrangement.

Condition:

Our review of 25 special payroll employees, who have relatives working for UConn, disclosed the following exceptions:

- Six employees did not file the required conflict of interest disclosure forms.
- Of the 19 filed conflict of interest disclosure forms, 2 did not have signatures in the human resources review section, and none had a senior manager's signature.

Effect:

Controls over conflict of interest disclosures were weakened. When conflict of interest forms are not filed or filed without senior management's review and approval, potential conflicts may go undetected.

Cause:

Hiring administrators within individual departments are responsible for asking special payroll candidates if they have relatives working at UConn. However, due to the university's decentralized hiring processes, if hiring administrators do not indicate that there is a conflict of interest in the Special Payroll Authorization Request system, human resources may not be aware of the relationship.

UConn personnel utilized a different conflict of interest form than the form in the policy. The UConn form did not call for senior management review, as the policy requires.

Prior Audit Finding:

This finding has not been previously reported.

Recommendation:

The University of Connecticut should follow its policy on Employment and Contracting for Services of Relatives to ensure that any employment actions are reviewed for possible conflicts of interest. A senior manager outside the immediate hiring situation should approve the conflict of interest form, as required by the policy. (See Recommendation 25.)

Agency Response:

"The University of Connecticut agrees with the recommendation and has implemented corrective action.

UConn has strengthened our controls and our processes regarding Conflict of Interest; however, it is important to note that the process continues to be a self-certification process that does not eliminate all risk. UConn's Office of Human Resources implemented in the fall of 2019 a Human Resources onboarding and applicant called Page-Up. Questions regarding relatives with employment with University of Connecticut and State of Connecticut is captured at the application level and is also requested of departments. The Office of Human Resources is then able to review this information electronically and review for compliance with policy to the extent the applicant notifies us of these events and all relevant information."

Software Inventory

Criteria: In accordance with Chapter 7 of the State Property Control Manual,

each state agency must establish a software inventory to track and control all software media and license agreements. The agency must produce an annual software inventory report and conduct an annual

physical inventory of the software library.

Condition: Our review disclosed that the university does not have an inventory to

track and control all of its software media and license agreements. The university was unable to provide a complete software inventory report

for the audited period.

Effect: The lack of a software inventory reduces the university's ability to

adequately monitor, control, and track software use and ownership.

Cause: The university does not have adequate internal controls over licensed

software. The university's decentralized nature allows individual departments to purchase software, making it difficult to properly

monitor and track its software inventory.

Prior Audit Finding: This finding has not been previously reported.

Recommendation: The University of Connecticut should strengthen internal controls to

ensure that it maintains software inventory records and reports them in accordance with the State Property Control Manual. (See

Recommendation 26.)

Agency Response: "The University of Connecticut agrees with the recommendation to

comply with the software inventory requirements contained in the State Property Control Manual. We will be putting together a task force in FY21 to address fulfilling the requirements of having a formal software inventory. The task force may seek guidance from the State Comptroller's Office on exploring adequate software inventory methods to meet the guidelines of the manual but also take into consideration the academic community."

Construction Management Oversight Committee

Criteria:

Public Act 06-134, as codified in Sections 10a-109bb and 10a-109cc of the General Statutes, created the Construction Management Oversight Committee (CMOC). CMOC is charged with the review and approval of the university's UConn 2000 construction management policies and procedures.

CMOC has 7 members, 4 appointed by the Governor and General Assembly and 3 appointed by the University of Connecticut's Board of Trustees. The members appointed by the Governor and General Assembly must have expertise in the field of construction management, architectural design, or construction project management. The members serve 4-year terms and can be reappointed.

Condition:

On September 22, 2015, the President of the University of Connecticut approved the following changes to the CMOC:

- The transfer of the CMOC duties to the Building, Grounds and Environmental (BGE) committee.
- The Office of Construction Assurance (OCA) will no longer issue reports to CMOC, but instead issue them to the BGE committee.

Per these changes, the university transferred the CMOC responsibilities to the BGE committee. The BGE committee members do not have statutorily-required expertise in the fields of construction management, architectural design or construction project management.

Effect:

CMOC, a committee of experts in the fields of construction management, architectural design, and construction project management, is no longer providing independent oversight over UConn 2000 projects. Consequently, the university is not in compliance with Section 10a-109bb (a) of the General Statutes.

Cause:

The university transferred the CMOC responsibilities to the BGE committee.

Prior Audit Finding:

This finding has not been previously reported.

Recommendation:

The University of Connecticut should comply with Section 10a-109bb (a) of the General Statutes to ensure that committee members with the requisite professional experience review UConn 2000 projects. (See Recommendation 27.)

Agency Response:

"The University of Connecticut disagrees with the finding. The University has satisfied the statutory requirements by making its required appointments. It should be noted that the statute does not require that the Board of Trustee appointees have expertise in the fields of construction management, architectural design or construction project management. Notwithstanding, UConn has sought to appoint trustees with sufficient relevant expertise

The CMOC was established in 2006. All necessary appointments were made, but the terms of the members expired in 2009 and 2010. Absent new appointments, the original members continued to serve. The Chair of the CMOC wrote to the appointing authorities in April 2013 and again in February 2014, requesting new appointments. None were made. In December 2014, the CMOC unanimously voted that the committee had successfully completed its work and to recommend that the legislature eliminate the committee. This was reflected in a Memorandum dated December 4, 2014 which was sent to the Governor and legislative leadership. The four non-UConn Board members resigned from the CMOC that same day.

The Chair of the CMOC, a UConn Board member, wrote to the Governor's Office on December 8, 2014 and asked that the statute be eliminated, that the duties of the CMOC be transferred to the University or that new appointments be made. No action was taken in response to that request. Notwithstanding that the meetings of the CMOC continued to be noticed, the committee was unable to act in the absence of a quorum.

The Board did not seek to supersede the role of the CMOC; rather, until such time as the legislature makes the required appointments or eliminates the statutory requirement for the committee, the Board deemed it prudent to assume responsibility to review and approve the University's construction management policies and procedures and accept the reports of the OCA."

Food Service Employees

Background: Several large dining halls, operated by UConn's Department of Dining

Services of the Division of Student Affairs, provide dining services to UConn students. The approximately 525 food service operations employees at UConn are generally referred to as dining services employees to distinguish them from other UConn employees. However, the Department of Dining Services is a unit of the university and the state. Accordingly, the employees of UConn's food service operation

are employed by the state.

Criteria: Section 3-25 of the General Statutes authorizes constituent units of the

state system of higher education to pay certain claims directly rather than through the Comptroller, but it specifically excludes payroll.

Section 10a-108 of the General Statutes grants UConn's board of trustees the authority to employ the faculty and other personnel needed to operate the university and fix their compensation. However, this authority does not cover employees in state classified service. The work performed by UConn's dining services employees is consistent with

work in state classified service.

Condition: UConn is paying its approximate 525 dining services employees

directly rather than through the Office of the State Comptroller.

UConn's dining services employees are excluded from participating in the state employee retirement system and limited to participating in the Department of Dining Services Purchase Pension Plan or the University of Connecticut Department of Dining Services 403(b) Retirement Plan.

Effect: Internal controls over payroll disbursements may be weakened. Dining

services employees cannot participate in the state employee retirement

system.

Cause: UConn did not seek clear statutory authority to compensate its dining

services employees in this manner.

Prior Audit Finding: This finding has been previously reported in the last 4 audit reports

covering the fiscal years ended June 30, 2008 through 2015.

Recommendation: The University of Connecticut should seek clear statutory authority for

the direct payment of wages to its dining services employees and their participation in separate retirement plans. (See Recommendation 28.)

Agency Response: "In response to the Auditors' concerns, the University is actively

pursuing a solution that will continue to meet the operational needs of

Dining Services and will clarify the relationship between the University and this workforce consistent with statutory requirements. The University will be forming a workgroup to discuss the Dining Services issue identified in the report."

RECOMMENDATIONS

Status of Prior Audit Recommendations:

Our prior audit report on the University of Connecticut contained 15 recommendations. Seven of the prior audit recommendations have been implemented or otherwise resolved and 8 have been repeated or restated with modifications during the current audit.

- The University of Connecticut should promptly report as required under Section 4-33a of the General Statutes as soon as a reasonable suspicion exists that a reportable incident has occurred. Any doubt as to whether an incident is reportable under Section 4-33a should be resolved by reporting it. Our current audit disclosed that sufficient improvement has been made in this area. The recommendation is not being repeated.
- The University of Connecticut should move ongoing projects that are not consistent with the statutory definition of deferred maintenance to different funding sources. Legislative authorization should be sought for projects that do not constitute deferred maintenance and are not otherwise named in Sections 10a-109e of the General Statutes. Our current audit disclosed sufficient improvement has been made in this area. The recommendation is not being repeated.
- The University of Connecticut should comply with the competitive procurement requirements of Section 10a-151b of the General Statutes. Procurement actions should not be characterized as sole source purchases unless no other source exists that is capable of meeting the requirements. Our current audit disclosed that sufficient improvement has been made in this area. The recommendation is not being repeated.
- The University of Connecticut should clearly state in any separation agreements incorporating non-disparagement clauses that the clause does not in any way restrict the employee's right to file a whistleblower complaint under Section 4-61dd of the General Statutes. The agreement should incorporate similar language addressing other actions that are protected by state or federal law or are in the public interest. Our current audit disclosed that sufficient improvement has been made in this area. The recommendation is not being repeated.
- The University of Connecticut should compensate employees who step down from management positions at a level consistent with the work they are performing, not at a level appropriate for their former positions. The recommendation is being repeated with modification to reflect our current audit findings. (See Recommendation 5.)
- The University of Connecticut should follow its policy regarding vacation payout upon separation. The university should attempt to recover the unauthorized payment of \$45,230. The recommendation is being repeated with modification to reflect our current audit findings. (See Recommendation 8.)

- The University of Connecticut should provide notice instead of making separation payments to terminating employees in instances of involuntary separation for reasons unrelated to job performance. The recommendation is being repeated with modification to reflect our current audit findings. (See Recommendation 7.)
- The University of Connecticut should ensure that properly approved access control forms are on file for all individuals with access to KFS. Notification procedures intended to identify all individuals whose access should be disabled should be expanded to encompass all relevant personnel actions. The recommendation is restated and repeated. (See Recommendation 15.)
- The University of Connecticut should develop a centralized process for monitoring and obtaining assurance over service organizations. The recommendation is being repeated with modification to reflect our current audit findings. (See Recommendation 17.)
- The University of Connecticut should enforce the existing procedural requirement that those responsible for equipment items enter all movements of equipment in the financial system's capital asset management module. The last inventory date field should only be updated when the existence and location of the equipment item has been physically verified. Our current audit disclosed that sufficient improvement has been made in this area. The recommendation is not being repeated.
- The University of Connecticut should seek clear statutory authority for the direct payment of wages to its food service operations staff and for their participation in separate retirement plans. The recommendation is being repeated. (See Recommendation 28.)
- The University of Connecticut should require that purchasing card logs be approved by a staff member with supervisory authority over the cardholder. **The recommendation is being repeated.** (See Recommendation 18.)
- The University of Connecticut should obtain updated ethics certifications within fourteen days after the twelve-month anniversary of the most recently filed certification or updated certification. The recommendation is being repeated with modification to reflect our current audit findings. (See Recommendation 19.)
- The University of Connecticut should seek legislative authorization for the issuance of state bonds to refinance the TIAA-CREF loan when market conditions are appropriate. The cost savings that can be achieved will vary depending on both the state general obligation bond interest rate and, due to a yield maintenance prepayment penalty on the TIAA-CREF loan, current Treasury rates. The university has researched and has determined that refinancing would not generate any savings at this time, primarily due to the prepayment penalty. The recommendation is not being repeated.
- The University of Connecticut should maintain daily mileage logs for all vehicles that are used for off-campus travel. Our current audit disclosed that sufficient improvement has been made in this area. The recommendation is not being repeated.

Current Audit Recommendations:

1. The University of Connecticut should comply with Section 10a-109n(c)(2)(A) of the General Statutes and publicly solicit projects with costs estimated to exceed \$500,000 by posting them on the university's website and the Department of Administrative Services' State Contracting Portal.

Comment:

During our review of 6 construction manager at risk contracts totaling \$291,408,084, we found that UConn did not competitively solicit 2 projects totaling \$26,619,653 and \$16,544,703.

2. The University of Connecticut should adhere to its policies and publicly solicit design projects with costs greater than \$500,000.

Comment:

During our review of construction change orders, we noted that UConn did not competitively solicit 2 professional design projects, with costs exceeding \$500,000.

3. The University of Connecticut should establish the scope and costs of construction projects to ensure that their actual costs are reasonable and consistent with a properly developed original budget.

Comment:

The costs of UConn's downtown Hartford campus project far exceeded the original budget.

4. The University of Connecticut should adhere to its bylaws when administering the sabbatical leave program, document any deviation from its formal policy in writing, and vet sabbatical leave via an appropriate approval process.

Comment:

One employee received sabbatical leave compensation at full pay for an entire year. We also noted several instances in which the university did not recover funds for sabbatical leave payments made to employees who did not return to full-time service.

5. The University of Connecticut should compensate employees who step down from management positions at a level consistent with their new position. If a higher compensation rate is warranted, the university should document the appropriateness of the new salary.

Comment:

We reviewed 18 employees who stepped down from management positions during the audited period. Each employee moved from a 12-month management position to a 9, 10, or 11-month faculty position. Of the 18 employees, we found 7 instances in which the university increased the employees' monthly compensation rate after they changed positions.

6. The University of Connecticut should strengthen control procedures to ensure compliance with the compensatory time provisions set forth in the University of Connecticut Professional Employees Association contract.

Comment:

We noted several instances in which supervisors did not properly approve compensatory time. The university paid compensatory time to employees who did not request to use their time or were ineligible to receive such a payment. One employee received 1 to 2 hours of compensatory time per day throughout the audited period.

7. The University of Connecticut should provide notice instead of separation payments in instances of involuntary separation unrelated to job performance. However, if, due to security and/or other risk concerns, management determines that payment in lieu of notice is the prudent alternative, it should prepare written documentation of its consideration of the applicable risk factors and clearly describe the basis for its conclusion.

The university should not make separation payments to employees who were terminated for poor job performance.

Comment:

During a review of employees on paid leave, we noted 9 instances that constituted payments of salary in lieu of notice to managerial employees. In 2 instances, UConn made a single lump sum payment in lieu of notice. In 7 instances, UConn paid the employees on an installment basis and placed them on paid leave for the time immediately prior to their separation date.

8. The University of Connecticut should follow all applicable policies, procedures, and contracts when making vacation leave payouts upon an employee's separation.

Comment:

We noted 2 instances in which the university paid employees for unused vacation balance accruals above the maximum.

9. The University of Connecticut should review each user's Core-CT access and, if appropriate, adjust the level of employee access to improve the segregation of duties between the payroll and human resources functions. The university should submit a CO-1092 form with appropriate justification for all employees with dual access.

Comment:

We noted that a significant number of employees had dual access to the payroll and human resources functions in Core-CT, which reduces the segregation of duties between the two functions.

10. The University of Connecticut should improve internal controls over timesheet approval.

Comment:

We noted that 10 employees' timesheets were missing a supervisor's approval. Instead, subordinates approved the timesheets of the higher ranked employees.

11. The University of Connecticut should not rehire its retired employees for more than three 120-day periods, in accordance with university policy. The university should ensure that compensation for rehired retirees is consistent with its policy.

Comment:

We noted several instances in which the university rehired retirees for more than three 120-day periods and paid them hourly wages exceeding 75% of their preretirement salary.

12. The University of Connecticut should ensure that supervisors review employee timesheets properly prior to approval, and the Payroll Department should verify that valid time reporting codes were used. The university should perform periodic reviews of employees who charged holiday time on non-holidays to ensure that they accurately reported their time.

Comment:

We noted 180 employees who erroneously charged a total of 2,882 hours of holiday paid leave on days that were not holidays.

13. The University of Connecticut should institute procedures to ensure that the carryover of vacation leave is monitored and approved in accordance with university policy.

Comment:

We noted several instances in which employees' vacation accruals exceeded the approved limit.

14. The University of Connecticut should follow its established policies and remove data center access when it is no longer required. The university should conduct periodic reviews of all users with data center access to ensure they still require access.

Comment:

We noted that 2 employees and one vendor had data center access when it was no longer required.

15. The University of Connecticut should promptly deactivate information system access upon an employee's separation from employment. The university should periodically review information system access privileges to determine whether access is still appropriate.

Comment:

We noted 25 instances in which UConn did not promptly terminate employees' Kuali Financial System user accounts after their separation.

16. The University of Connecticut should follow its established housing policies and procedures to ensure that all rental arrangements are documented and in compliance with existing laws and regulations. All rental agreements should be in writing and signed by an authorized UConn representative and the tenant. When providing rentfree housing, the university should provide the tenant the information necessary to comply with tax laws.

Comment:

UConn lacked an adequate tracking system for university tenants, and we noted several instances in which housing request forms were not filed or not fully executed. The university provided a top university manager with free housing, including utilities, a year and a half after the employment start date. The initial offer letter did not contain language related to a housing benefit, but the parties added a housing addendum to the offer letter approximately one year after the employee's start date.

17. The University of Connecticut should continue to develop a process to monitor and obtain assurance over external vendors by obtaining and reviewing their service organization control reports.

Comment:

The university utilizes service organizations to perform various operations. We noted several instances in which the university did not obtain and review service organization control (SOC) reports. In addition, in certain instances, UConn obtained SOC reports, but there was no evidence that they were reviewed.

18. The University of Connecticut should require that purchasing card logs be approved by the cardholder's supervisor.

Comment:

UConn does not require the cardholder's supervisor to approve the purchasing card log.

19. The University of Connecticut should obtain ethics certifications in a manner consistent with Section 4-252 of the General Statutes.

Comment:

UConn did not obtain all the required ethics certifications for 8 of 36 contracts reviewed.

20. The University of Connecticut should ensure that employees with tuition waivers who attend classes during regularly scheduled work hours complete the required Temporary Flexible Work Schedule form and ensure that their work and class schedules do not conflict.

Comment:

During our review of 25 individuals who received a tuition reimbursement or waiver, we noted that 3 employees took classes during regular work hours. Of those 3 employees, one employee did not complete a Temporary Flexible Work Schedule form, and one employee had a supervisor-approved form on file that indicated that the employee's work and class schedule conflicted on certain days.

21. The University of Connecticut should strengthen its internal controls to ensure that it approves change order requests prior to the commencement of services.

Comment:

Our review noted that contractors performed services for 16 change order requests, totaling \$1,377,315, prior to the approval of the request.

22. The University of Connecticut should adhere to its on-call professional services program policy when selecting a contractor. The university should formally document its criteria when it assigns a contractor from the on-call professional services program under the equalization rotational process.

Comment:

During our review of 5 on-call professional services program contracts, totaling \$3,131,941, we noted that all 5 contracts lacked the requisite documentation to support that the university adhered to the equalization rotational process when selecting the professional firm.

23. The University of Connecticut should implement policies and procedures to ensure that non-university contractors and consultants disclose potential conflicts of interest.

Comment:

Our review found an undisclosed conflict of interest between a Department of Administrative Services building inspector and his sibling, a contracted construction project manager. UConn does not require contractors or consultants to complete conflict of interest forms.

24. The University of Connecticut should consider price as a criteria when evaluating bids during the competitive procurement process. The university also should document its consideration and evaluation of costs associated with subcontractors hired to perform a significant amount of the work on a contract.

Comment:

In one instance, the university did not consider price when reviewing competitively solicited bids. In a second instance, UConn's competitively solicited vendor subcontracted the majority of services without the university's input and evaluation of cost.

25. The University of Connecticut should follow its policy on Employment and Contracting for Services of Relatives to ensure that any employment actions are reviewed for possible conflicts of interest. A senior manager outside the immediate hiring situation should approve the conflict of interest form, as required by the policy.

Comment:

We noted several instances in which employees did not file required conflict of interest forms. Of the 19 filed conflict of interest disclosure forms, 2 did not have signatures in the human resources review section, and none had a senior manager's signature.

26. The University of Connecticut should strengthen internal controls to ensure that it maintains software inventory records and reports them in accordance with the State Property Control Manual.

Comment:

UConn does not have an inventory to track and control all of its software media and license agreements.

27. The University of Connecticut should comply with Section 10a-109bb (a) of the General Statutes to ensure that committee members with the requisite professional experience review UConn 2000 projects.

Comment:

On September 22, 2015, the President of the University of Connecticut approved the transfer of the Construction Management Oversight Committee (CMOC) duties to the Building, Grounds and Environmental (BGE) committee (BGE). The president also directed the Office of Construction Assurance (OCA) to no longer issue reports to CMOC, but instead issue them to the Building, Grounds and Environmental (BGE) committee.

28. The University of Connecticut should seek clear statutory authority for the direct payment of wages to its dining services employees and for their participation in separate retirement plans.

Comment:

The university is paying its approximate 525 dining services employees directly rather than through the Office of the State Comptroller.

UConn's dining services employees are excluded from participating in the state employee retirement system and limited to participating in the Department of Dining Services Purchase Pension Plan or the University of Connecticut Department of Dining Services 403(b) Retirement Plan.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The Auditors of Public Accounts wish to express our appreciation for the courtesies and cooperation extended to our representatives by the personnel of the University of Connecticut during the course of our examination.

The Auditors of Public Accounts would also like to recognize the auditors who contributed to this report:

Jenny Banh Lisa Drzewiecki Walter Felgate Jason Grauer Aileen Jiang Bill Jordan

> Walter J. Felgate Principal Auditor

Watta Jelgat

Approved:

John C. Geragosian State Auditor